
 

Spelthorne Borough Council, Council Offices, Knowle Green 
 
Staines-upon-Thames TW18 1XB 
 
www.spelthorne.gov.uk customer.services@spelthorne.gov.uk Telephone 01784 451499 
 

 
 
 
 
 Please reply to:  

Contact: Melis Owen 
Service: Committee Services 
Direct line: 01784 446449 
E-mail: m.owen@spelthorne.gov.uk 
Date: 5 October 2023 

 
 

Notice of meeting 
 
 

Planning Committee  
 
 

Date: 

 

Wednesday, 18 October 2023 

Time: 

 

7.00 pm 

 

 

Place: 

 

Council Chamber, Council Offices, Knowle Green, Staines-upon-Thames TW18 
1XB 

 
To the members of the Planning Committee 
 
Councillors: 
 
M. Gibson (Chair) 
D. Geraci (Vice-Chair) 
C. Bateson 
S.N. Beatty 
M. Beecher 
M. Buck 
 

T. Burrell 
R. Chandler 
D. Clarke 
S.A. Dunn 
K. Howkins 
M. Lee 
 

A. Mathur 
L. E. Nichols 
K. Rutherford 
H.R.D. Williams 
 

Councillors are reminded that the Gifts and Hospitality Declaration book will be available 
outside the meeting room for you to record any gifts or hospitality offered to you since the 
last Committee meeting.  
 
 
 
 

http://www.spelthorne.gov.uk/
mailto:customer.services@spelthorne.gov.uk


 
 

 

 AGENDA  

  Page nos. 

1.   Apologies and Substitutions  

 To receive any apologies for non-attendance and notification of 
substitutions. 
 

 

2.   Minutes 5 - 10 

 To confirm the minutes of the meeting held on 20 September 2023 as a 
correct record. 
 

 

3.   Disclosures of Interest  

 To receive any disclosures of interest from councillors under the 
Councillors’ Code of Conduct, or contact with applicants/objectors under 
the Planning Code. 
 

 

 Planning Applications and other Development Control matters  

 To consider and determine the planning applications and other 
development control matters detailed in the reports listed below. 
 

 

4.   Planning application - 23/00121/OUT - Land East of Vicarage Road, 
Sunbury-on-Thames, TW16 7LB 

11 - 66 

 Ward 
Sunbury Common  
 
Proposal 
A hybrid planning application for an Integrated Retirement Community to 
consist of: 
a) Full planning application incorporating 38 extra care and 28 close 
care units (Use Class C2) with an on-site village centre to include a 
medical facility. Means of access off Vicarage Road, associated 
infrastructure, landscape buffer and open space.  
 
b) Outline Planning application for a care home (Up to 60 beds) and up 
to 68 extra care units (Use Class C2) landscaping and open space, 
parking, infrastructure and internal access roads (all matters reserved).  
 
Recommendation 
Refuse the application for the reasons set out at Paragraph 8 of the 
report.  
 

 

5.   Planning Appeals Report 67 - 74 

 To note details of the Planning appeals submitted and decisions 
received between 7 September to 4 October 2023.  
 

 

6.   Major Planning Applications 75 - 78 



 
 

 

 To note the details of future major planning applications. 
 

 

7.   Glossary of Terms and Abbreviations 79 - 84 
 



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 

1 
 

Minutes of the Planning Committee 
20 September 2023 

 
 

Present: 
Councillor M. Gibson (Chair) 

Councillor D. Geraci (Vice-Chair) 
 
Councillors: 
 

C. Bateson 

M. Beecher 

M. Buck 

T. Burrell 

 

R. Chandler 

D. Clarke 

S.A. Dunn 

K. Howkins 

 

M. Lee 

A. Mathur 

L. E. Nichols 

K. Rutherford 

 

 
 

Apologies: Apologies were received from Councillor S.N. Beatty and 
Councillor H.R.D. Williams 

 
 
In Attendance: 
Councillors who are not members of the Committee, but attended the meeting 
and spoke on an application in or affecting their ward, are set out below in 
relation to the relevant application.  
 

  
 
 

52/23   Minutes  
 

The minutes of the meeting held on 23 August 2023 were approved as a 
correct record. 
 

53/23   Disclosures of Interest  
 

a) Disclosures of interest under the Members’ Code of Conduct 
 
There were none. 
 
b) Declarations of interest under the Council’s Planning Code 
 
Councillor Bateson declared he was approached to supply historical data in 
relation to application 01/00018/FUL and would abstain from voting on this 
item. Councillor Nichols also declared a close relative worked for the 

Page 5

Agenda Item 2



 
Planning Committee, 20 September 2023 - continued 

 

2 
 

interested party in relation to application 01/00018/FUL and he would abstain 
from voting on this item. 
 
Councillor Beecher and Burrell both declared they were involved in meetings 
in relation to application 01/00018/FUL but had maintained an impartial role, 
had not expressed any views and had kept an open mind. 
 
Councillor Howkins declared an interest in relation to application 
01/00018/FUL which concerned a previous matter with Staines town Football 
Club relating to the call-in of the decision made on the Appointment of 
Representative Trustees for Laleham Charities Village Hall and Recreation 
Grounds. She however came to this meeting with an open mind.  
 
Councillor Gibson declared an interest in relation to application 01/00018/FUL 
of which she was a member of the Thames Club and on this basis had visited 
the site many times but came to this meeting with an open mind.  
 

54/23   Planning application - 01/00018/FUL, Wheatsheaf Park, 
Wheatsheaf Lane, Staines-upon-Thames TW18 2PD  
 

Description: 
To enter into a Deed of Variation (DoV) to the Agreement dated 12 
September 2001 made under Section 106 of the Town and Country Planning 
Act 1990, relating to Land at Staines Town Football Club, Wheatsheaf Lane, 
Staines, Middlesex, under Planning Application PA/01/0018 (‘the Section 106 
Agreement’). 
 
Officers advised that the variation to the 106 agreement was submitted to the 
Local Planning Authority as an informal request and was negotiated by 
agreement rather than the applicant using a formal route by submitting an 
application. 
 
 
Additional Information: 
There was none. 
 
Public Speaking:  
In accordance with the Council’s procedure for speaking at meetings, Steve 
Parsons spoke against the proposed development raising the following key 
points: 
 
-Staines Town FC had a 130 year history as a club 
-The Thames Club had agreed to provide income to sustain football  
-Evidence was provided which demonstrated Staines Town FC was far more 
than just a limited company  
-The Thames Club had recognised the continued existence of Staines Town 
FC 11 months ago when they asked them to investigate the formation of a 
community hub  

Page 6



 
Planning Committee, 20 September 2023 - continued 

 

3 
 

-The Thames Club had not consulted the trustee of Staines Town FC in 
advancing the Deed of Variation despite their name appearing on the section 
106 agreement  
-The section 106 agreement should provide perpetual protection for Staines 
Town FC  
- The section 106 agreement still served a useful purpose  
- There was no need to vary the agreement as prospective users of the pitch 
could still seek permission from Staines Town FC  
-There should not be a sacrifice of community assets 
-Outlets which represented a sense of community and pride should be 
retained 
-Wheatsheaf Park was the only pitch in Staines likely to accommodate senior 
clubs to play football  
-Refusing this Deed of Variation would make the return of quality football a 
possibility 
 
 
In accordance with the Council’s procedure for speaking at meetings, Martin 
Robertson spoke for the proposed development raising the following key 
points: 
 
-Last year there was consultation with former officials from the football club 
concerning their possible occupation of the ground with no subsequent 
proposals 
-Any new football club entity would face the same issues regarding the 
section 106 agreement.  
-It was inappropriate that the facilities could not be used because of the 
abandonment of the site by Staines Town Football Club 
-The clause that required football games played by teams other than STFC to 
be approved by the club should be removed from the agreement  
-It would be a shame for the pitch and stadium to remain unused 
-The drafting of the S106 agreement never contemplated that STFC would no 
longer be in existence  
-Brentford Football Club was the chosen tenant to occupy the facility  
-Brentford FC was keen to support football in the borough and replicate 
community engagement schemes deployed in other boroughs which they 
operate 
-The property and pitch had fallen into disrepair after years of neglect and 
there was keen interest to restore previous high standards  
-Rent from football facilities would provide additional revenue to the Thames 
Club amid rising energy costs.  
-The Committee was asked to confer the Deed of Variation and remove the 
clause that can now never be complied with  
 
Debate: 
During the debate the following key issues were raised: 
 
-Documents submitted by life members demonstrated that Staines Town 
Football Club existed separately from Staines Town Football Club Ltd.  

Page 7



 
Planning Committee, 20 September 2023 - continued 

 

4 
 

-Concern was raised regarding protections in place for the land when other 
teams used the pitch at Wheatsheaf Park  
-It was a shame to lose the name and history of Staines Town FC  
-There was argument to suggest the continuity of Staines Town FC in 
Middlesex County Football Association records  
-Staines Town FC should have an opportunity to set up a new limited 
company  
-Other footballing organisations would have difficulty in contacting Staines 
Town FC for permission to use the pitch and facilities  
-Concern was raised at the possibility of loud music concerts being hosted at 
the pitch under definitions of permitted uses 
-The Thames Club was the landowner who had ultimate control of the use of 
the site 
 
It was proposed by Councillor Dunn and seconded by Councillor Burrell to 
amend the definition in 3.12 (b) the “Permitted Uses” to read as follows: 
 
(b) any use falling within Use Class F2(c) of the Use Classes Order, but with 
the exclusion of music concerts without the prior approval of the Local 
Planning Authority  
 
 
The Committee voted on the amendment as follows: 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 
Decision: The Committee resolved to agree the motion to amend the 
definition in 3.12 (b).  
 
 
 
The Committee then proceeded to vote on the application as follows: 
 
 
For: 5 
Against:6  
Abstain:3   
 
Councillor Nichols requested for his named abstention to be noted.  
 
The motion to enter into a Deed of Variation FELL.  
 
 
It was proposed not to agree to enter into the recommended Deed of Variation 
as the Planning Committee, by majority vote, is not convinced that Staines 

For (7)  

Against (3)  

Abstain (4) C Bateson, M Lee, A 
Mathur, L Nichols.  

Page 8



 
Planning Committee, 20 September 2023 - continued 

 

5 
 

Town Football Club ceased to exist and/or no longer exists and that the 
existing s106 agreement and the current obligations can proceed and the 
purpose can still be fulfilled and still be useful. 
 
The motion to refuse the Deed of Variation was carried by the majority of the 
Committee. 
 
 
Decision:  The Deed of Variation was refused for the following reason:  
 
Not to agree to enter into the recommended Deed of Variation as the Planning 
Committee, by majority vote, is not convinced that Staines Town Football Club 
ceased to exist and/or no longer exists and that the existing s106 agreement 
and the current obligations can proceed and the purpose can still be fulfilled 
and still be useful.  
 
 
 

55/23   Planning Development Management Performance Report  
 

The Committee considered a report on the performance of Planning 
Development Management from the Planning Development Manager.The 
report was presented annually to advise members of the performance of 
Planning Development Management against government targets and 
requirements. 
 
Resolved that the report of the Planning Development Manager be received 
and noted. 
 

56/23   Major Planning Applications  
 

The Planning Development Manager submitted a report outlining major 
applications that may be brought before the Planning Committee for 
determination. 
 
Resolved that the report of the Planning Development Manager be received 
and noted. 
 

57/23   Planning Appeals Report  
 

The Chairman informed the Committee that if any Member had any detailed 
queries regarding the report on Appeals lodged and decisions received since 
the last meeting, they should contact the Planning Development Manager.  
 
Resolved that the report of the Planning Development Manager be received 
and noted. 
 
In light of her departure, Councillor Bateson expressed his gratitude to Claire 
Browne on behalf of the leader and all Councillors for her contributions to the 

Page 9



 
Planning Committee, 20 September 2023 - continued 

 

6 
 

Council’s legal department and particularly her work on the Debenhams 
Development appeal.  
 

Page 10



35

66

21

64

11

34

K
E

N
Y

N
G

TO
N

 D
R

IV
E

80

32

1

50

2

46

Sub Sta

51

El

8

18

5

4c

16

Sports Pavilion

Games Court

63

Felthamhill Brook

Mast

Play Area

75

80a

2

1

Kenyngton
Court

4

3

80c

Mast

82

77

24

13

36

10Ppg Sta

20Sewage

18

10

22

34

31

44

House

School
BEECHWOOD AVENUE

2

4
2

8

14

Ppg Sta

Sewage

10
12

12.8m

8a

7

1
E

l S
ub S

ta

2a 2

9

15

23

1

45

57

12.8m

56

64

46

44

48
50

54

52

40

34

Youth

Centre

64

58

32

26

22
24

20

B
R

Y
O

N
Y

 W
AY

Kenyngton Manor

Primary School

47a

47b

47c

47

49

31

12.5m

12.5m

Boro Const, GL Asly Const & LB Bdy

Copperfields

21

2

69
a

1

1 
to

 4

Alexander

Court

59

69

73

12.8m

74

LB

84

1 3

27

32

BROAD OAK

13

9

20

13

14
17

10

1

5

Millbrook
Middle

R
O

A
D

BramblesReviens

Springfield

V
IC

A
R

A
G

E

Oaklands

Moonrakers

13

S
ew

age P
pg S

ta

88

92

5

98

GROVELEY ROAD109

12.8m

LB

TCB1

11
9

4

(PH)K
IN

R
O

S
S

 C
LO

S
E

Running Horse

12
9

1

C
ou

rt

C
ha

st
e 1 to 6

13

17

21
21a

Perth

Ashwood

FISK CLOSE

4

1 to 8

2

38

7

KINGS AVENUE

25

THE ROWANS

3

Earth

11

3

1

1 to 12

Rosaceous

33

13

50

25

29

31

35

12.5m

37

Allotment Gardens

Glenshiel

84

97

12.5m

13
1

KINROSS DRIVE

2
12

13
7

14

HALLOWS GROVE 2

13

1

9 to 12

4

5 
to

 8 3

Tr
ac

k

1 to 8

1

1a

46

1

39

5

8 © Crown copyright and database rights 2023 Ordnance Survey 100024284. ¯Scale: 1:2,500

23/00121/OUT - Land east of Vicarage Road, Sunbury on Thames. TW16 7LB

Page 11

Agenda Item 4



This page is intentionally left blank



23/00121/OUT: Land East Of Vicarage Road, Sunbury-on-Thames, TW16 7LB 
 

PROPOSED SITE LAYOUT (FULL APPLICATION): 

 

 

 

Page 13



PROPOSED SITE LAYOUT (FULL AND OUTLINE APPLICATION): 

 

 

 

 

Page 14



OUTLINE APPLICATION – ‘PARAMETER PLANS’ 

ACCESS: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 15



OUTLINE APPLICATION – ‘PARAMETER PLANS’ 

BUILDING HEIGHTS: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 16



OUTLINE APPLICATION – ‘PARAMETER PLANS’ 

LAND USE: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 17



ILLUSTRATIVE MASTERPLAN: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 18



VILLAGE CENTRE ELEVATIONS: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 19



BLOCK S4 ELEVATIONS: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 20



BLOCK B5 ELEVATIONS: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 21



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

Planning Committee 

18 October 2023 

 
 

Application No. 23/00121/OUT 

Site Address Land East of Vicarage Road, Sunbury-on-Thames, TW16 7LB 

Applicant Senior Living (Sunbury-on-Thames) Ltd. C/O Agent. 

Proposal A Hybrid planning application for an Integrated Retirement Community 
to consist of: 

a) Full planning application incorporating 38 extra care and 28 close 
care units (Use Class C2) with an on-site village centre to include a 
medical facility. Means of access off Vicarage Road, associated 
infrastructure, landscape buffer and open space. 

b) Outline planning application for a care home (up to 60 beds) and up 
to 98 extra care units (Use Class C2), landscaping and open space, 
parking, infrastructure, and internal access roads (all matters reserved). 

Case Officer Paul Tomson / Matthew Churchill / Kiran Boparai  

Ward Sunbury Common 

Called-in N/A 

  

Application Dates 
Valid: 16.06.2023 Expiry: 23.10.2023 

Target: Extension of 
time agreed 

Executive 
Summary 

This application involves the creation of a new ‘Integrated Retirement 
Community’ comprising a Village Centre building accommodating 
amenity facilities and 28 ‘close-care’ units, a total of 136 extra-care 
units, a 60-bedroom care home, and other associated works. Two new 
accesses will be created off Vicarage Road. As the scheme involves 
providing specialist residential accommodation for the elderly, it would 
come under Use Class C2 (Residential institutions). 
 
The proposal has been submitted as a ‘hybrid application’. This, in 
effect, involves submitting two separate but connected planning 
applications to enable the development to be implemented in two 
phases. The first application is a full planning application incorporating 
the on-site Village Centre building with its associated facilities and 28 
close-care units, 38 extra-care units, means of accesses, a landscape 
buffer strip along the northern boundary, and other associated works. 
This full application is mainly focused around the western area of the 
site. The second application is an Outline planning application (with all 
matters reserved) for the remainder of the site. It comprises the 
remaining 98 extra-care units, the 60-bedroom care home, internal 
access roads, parking and other associated development. Whilst the 

Page 23



 
 

precise details of the design and layout, and other aspects of this 
Outline application are limited (it would be finalised at the subsequent 
Reserved Matters stage), the applicant has submitted several 
‘Parameter Plans’, which set limits regarding the height and location of 
the buildings and the approximate location of the main internal roadway. 
 
The application site is located within the Green Belt and is free of 
development. The proposal to build an ‘integrated retirement village’ 
constitutes ‘inappropriate development’ in the Green Belt and would 
result in substantial loss of openness. Moreover, the development would 
conflict with three of the five purposes of the Green Belt (a: to check the 
unrestricted sprawl of large built-up areas; b: to prevent neighbouring 
towns merging into one another; and c: to assist in safeguarding the 
countryside from encroachment)  as set out in paragraph 138 of the 
National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 2023.  
 
In terms of other harm, the proposal would adversely affect the existing 
rural character, landscape and appearance of the site and surrounding 
area, and would fail to make a positive contribution to the street scene, 
contrary to Policies EN1 and EN8 of the Core Strategy and Policies DPD 
2009. In addition, the applicant has failed to demonstrate that sufficient 
bat surveys/assessments have been carried out on the site, and that an 
acceptable sustainable drainage scheme (SuDS) can be provided on the 
site to minimise flood risk. Moreover, the proposal does not provide any 
affordable housing and the applicant has failed to demonstrate that it is 
not viable to provide up to 50% of the new close-care/extra-care units as 
affordable housing on the site. 
 
Whilst the applicant has provided some considerations in support of the 
scheme, it is considered that these benefits do not clearly outweigh the 
substantial harm to the Green Belt, and other harm, and that ‘very 
special circumstances’ do not exist to justify the development in the 
Green Belt. 
 
Accordingly, this hybrid planning application is recommended for refusal.  

Recommended 
Decision 

 

Refuse the application for the reasons set out at Paragraph 8 of the 
Report. 

 

  

Page 24



 
 

 

 MAIN REPORT 

1. Development Plan 

1.1 The following policies in the Council’s Core Strategy and Policies DPD 2009 
are considered relevant to this proposal: 

➢ LO1 (Flooding) 

➢ SP2 (Housing Provision) 

➢ HO1 (Providing for New Housing Development) 

➢ HO3 (Affordable Housing)  

➢ HO4 (Housing Size and Type) 

➢ HO5 (Density of Housing Development) 

➢ CO3 (Provision of Open Space for New Development) 

➢ EN1 (Design of New Development) 

➢ EN3 (Air Quality) 

➢ EN8 (Protecting and Improving the Landscape and Biodiversity) 

➢ EN15 (Development on Land Affected by Contamination) 

➢ CC1 (Renewable Energy, Energy Conservation and Sustainable 
Construction) 

➢ CC2 (Sustainable Travel) 

➢ CC3 (Parking Provision) 
 
1.2 It is also considered that the following Saved Local Plan policies are relevant 

to this proposal: 

- GB1 (Green Belt) 

- BE26 (Archaeology) 
 
1.3 The policies contained within the National Planning Policy Framework 

(NPPF) 2023 is also relevant. 
 

1.4 On 19 May 2022, Council agreed that the draft Local Plan be published for 
public consultation under Regulation 19 of the Town and Country Planning 
(Local Planning) (England) Regulations 2012 (as amended).  The public 
consultation for the Pre-Submission Publication version of the Local Plan ran 
from 15 June 2022 to 21 September 2022 and the local plan was submitted 
to the Planning Inspectorate under Regulation 19 on 25 November 2022. It is 
relevant to note that the Applicant submitted a representation in response to 
the emerging Local Plan’s Regulation 19 consultation. 
 

1.5 An Examination into the emerging Local Plan commenced on 23 May 2023. 
However, on 6 June 2023, the Council resolved to request the Planning 
Inspector to pause the Examination Hearings into the Local Plan for a period 
of three (3) months to allow time for the new council to understand and 
review the policies and implications of the Local Plan and after the three 

Page 25



 
 

month pause the Council will decide what actions may be necessary before 
the Local Plan examination may proceed. At the meeting of the Council on 
19 July 2023, it was agreed that Catriona Riddell & Associates be appointed 
to provide ‘critical friend’ support to inform the options for taking the plan 
process forward. On 14 September 2023, the Council considered a report 
following the deferral in June.  The report listed three options; to continue 
with the local plan to include further work (especially on design codes), to 
request a further pause or to withdraw the local plan.  On the day of the 
meeting, a letter was received from the Housing Minister stating that the 
Housing Secretary, was directing the council “not to take any step to 
withdraw the plan from examination…”  The Council resolved to extend the 
pause in the Examination timetable until the proposed changes to the NPPF 
have been published (expected in the Autumn) before determining the next 
steps and take immediate legal advice to confirm the validity of the minister's 
directive.  On 22 September 2023, the Inspector agreed to a pause to the 
Local Plan and requested that the Council continues to address the issues 
that he identified in the first week of the hearings, in particular flood risk and 
its potential implications in relation to the site allocation and delivery strategy 
of the plan. 

 
1.6 The following policies of the Pre-Submission Spelthorne Local Plan 2022-

2037 are of relevance: 
 

➢ Policy ST1 (Presumption in Favour of Sustainable 
Development) 

➢ Policy ST2 (Planning for the Borough) 

➢ Policy PS1 (Responding to the Climate Emergency) 

➢ Policy PS2 (Designing Places and Spaces) 

➢ Policy SP4 (Green Belt) 

➢ Policy H1 (Homes for All) 

➢ Policy H2 (Affordable Housing) 

➢ Policy E2 (Biodiversity) 

➢ Policy E3 (Managing Flood Risk) 

➢ Policy E4 (Environmental Protection) 

➢ Policy E5 (Open Space and Recreation) 

➢ Policy ID1 (Infrastructure and Delivery) 

➢ Policy ID2 (Sustainable Transport for New Developments) 
 

1.7 The NPPF policy states at para 48 that: 
 

Local planning authorities may give weight to relevant policies in emerging 
plans according to: 

a) the stage of preparation of the emerging plan (the more advanced its 
preparation, the greater the weight that may be given);  

b) the extent to which there are unresolved objections to relevant policies 
(the less significant the unresolved objections, the greater the weight 
that may be given); and 

Page 26



 
 

c) the degree of consistency of the relevant policies in the emerging plan 
to this Framework (the closer the policies in the emerging plan to the 
policies in the Framework, the greater the weight that may be given). 

 
1.8 Section 38(6) the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires 

applications to be determined in accordance with the development plan 
(unless material considerations indicate otherwise) and not in accordance 
with an emerging plan, although emerging policies may be a material 
consideration. 

 
1.9 At this stage, the policies in the Pre-Submission Spelthorne Local Plan carry 

limited weight in the decision-making process. The adopted policies in the 
2009 Core Strategy and Policies DPD carry substantial weight in the 
determination of this planning application. 

 
 
2. Relevant Planning History 

2.1 The site was subject to gravel extraction in the 1950’s. The land was 
subsequently filled. 
 

2.2 The following planning applications are of relevance to the application site: 
 

OUT/7639 

 
Erection of residential development 
and construction of new roads. 

 
Refused 
30.01.1964 
Appeal 
Dismissed 
20.07.1965 
 

FUL/3463/G Erection of permanent housing and 
provision of recreational areas. 

Refused 
03.11.1975 

  
 

 

3. Description of Current Proposal 
 

3.1 The application site comprises 5.3 hectares of open land situated to the east 
of Vicarage Road in Sunbury-On-Thames. The site has previously been 
subject to gravel extraction and has since been filled. 
 

3.2 The site is bounded by Felthamhill Brook and Bryony Way to the south, 
Vicarage Road and the Running Horse Public House to the west, Groveley 
Road to the north-west, Kenyngton Manor Recreation Ground to the east, 
and further open land to the north.   
 

3.3 The western side of Vicarage Road and the southern side of Bryony Way are 
occupied by one and two storey traditional family dwellings. Kenyngton 
Manor Primary School is also located on Bryony Way. Staines Rugby Club in 
the London Borough of Hounslow is located to the north of the site, although 
open land separates the northern site boundary from the Rugby Club.   
 

3.4 The site is located within the Green Belt and is considered to form part of the 
essential visual gap between Spelthorne and Greater London.   

Page 27



 
 

 

3.5 The site was included in ‘parcel 16A’ in the Stage 2 Spelthorne Green Belt 
Assessment (December 2018) prepared as part of the Council’s emerging 
Local Plan 2022-2037.  The parcel was considered to play “a fundamental 
role with respect to the wider Green Belt Local Area, and its release would 
harm the performance of the wider strategic Green Belt”.   
 

3.6 It is not proposed that the site would be released from the Green Belt in the 
Council’s Emerging Local Plan 2022-2037.  Moreover, the boundary of the 
Green Belt cannot be amended in an individual planning application and the 
application is subject to assessment against the relevant Green Belt policies 
and guidance.   
 

3.7 A small area at the southern end of the site is located within the 1 in 1000-
year flood event area (flood zone 2).  However, the vast majority of the site is 
situated outside of the flood zone (i.e. flood zone 1).  A further small area of 
land at the south of the site is situated within a 20-metre buffer zone around 
a main river (Felthamhill Brook).   
 

3.8 The Walton to Heathrow High Pressure Pipeline also transverses part of the 
site, which is operated by the British Pipeline Association (BPA).  The BPA 
has been consulted as part of the application process.  
 

3.9 The application has been submitted in hybrid form, meaning two application 
types, namely a ‘full’ and outline application, have been submitted in a single 
application, covering different parts of the site.   
 

3.10 The proposed development, including all of the residential units, would be in 
a Class C2 Use (Residential Institutions). They would comprise ‘extra care’ 
and ‘close care’ units as well as a care home. For clarity, ‘extra-care’ is 
similar to sheltered housing but also offers assistance with personal care and 
other support. The ‘close-care’ units are self-contained but are apartments 
located within the ‘Village Centre’ building and therefore have closer access 
to the care and support facilities. 
 

3.11 The Spelthorne Strategic Housing Market Assessment (SHMA) update report 
(October 2019) defines extra care housing as “schemes where a service 
registered to provide personal or nursing care is available 24/7”.   
 

3.12 The applicant’s submission documents define ‘close care’ as a term 
principally associated with a limited number of providers, which falls within 
the same category as ‘enhanced sheltered housing’.   
 

3.13 The applicant’s planning statement also indicates that in order to move into 
an Inspired Village, a resident must be a ‘qualifying person’ aged 65 or over, 
who has demonstrated a requirement to be in receipt of a ‘minimum care 
package’. The Applicant states that this constitutes at least 2 hours of 
care/support per week. 
 
 
 
 

Page 28



 
 

Full Planning Application  
 

3.14 In a ‘full’ planning application all material planning issues are under 
consideration and the applicant is required to provide ‘full’ details for what 
they are proposing.   
 

3.15 The applicant seeks ‘full’ planning permission for 3 areas of the site. This 
consists of a landscape buffer proposed at the north, an access point onto 
Vicarage Road at the south-west, and a further area at the west of the site, 
referred to as ‘phase 1’ by the applicant, where 38 extra care and 28 close 
care units (C2 Use) are proposed, alongside a ‘Village Centre’.  This is 
shown on the plan below: 

 
 

3.16 The ‘Village Centre’ building would be set over three storeys and would 
contain a restaurant, a café/bar, a fitness studio and gym, a pool, a clinical 
space, a hairdressers and other associated facilities on the ground floor.  
There would also be 28 self-contained ‘close-care’ apartments situated on 
the first and second floors.  
 

3.17 There would be 5 x two-storey blocks across the remainder of the ‘Phase 1’ 
site, which are labelled as ‘Blocks 1-5’ on the plans.  The plans also show a 
two-storey cottage building situated at the north-west of the site labelled 
‘Cottage S4’, and ‘Block 1A’ is also a pair of cottage style units.   

Page 29



 
 

 

3.18 The cottages in ‘Block 1A’, ‘Cottage S4’, and one of the units in ‘Block 3’ 
would be set over two storeys.  The remainder of the units in ‘Blocks 1-5’ 
would be set over a single storey, with one unit on the ground floor and 
another unit situated above (i.e., apartments). 
 

3.19 In terms of design, the proposed buildings will be traditional in appearance 
with pitched roofs laid with clay roof tiles. The walls of the buildings will be 
faced with a mix of brickwork and coloured render. The tallest building is the 
three-storey Village Centre, which has an overall height of 13.85 metres. 
 

3.20 The applicant’s planning statement states that 55 car parking spaces would 
serve ‘Phase 1’ (the ‘full’ element), representing a parking ratio of 0.38 
spaces per dwelling.   
 
Outline Application  

 
3.21 The remainder of the site is subject to an application for outline planning 

permission.  This is where the general principles of the development are 
under consideration, and where the applicant reserves some or all matters 
that would be considered in a further application at a later point should 
outline planning permission be granted. 
 

3.22 The outline application seeks a care home of up to 60 beds, 98 extra care 
units (C2 use) landscaping, open space, parking, infrastructure and internal 
access roads.    
 

3.23 The applicant has chosen to reserve all matters.  This means that only the 
general principles of the proposed development can be considered.  The 
matters outlined in the table below would be under consideration at a later 
point in a reserved matters application should outline planning permission be 
granted.   
 
 

Access The accessibility to and within the site for vehicles, cycles 
and pedestrians in terms of the position and treatment of 
access and circulation routes and how these fit into the 
surrounding network. 

Appearance The aspects of a building or place within the development 
which determines the visual impression of the building or 
place makes, including the external built form of the 
development, its architecture, materials, decoration, 
lighting, colour and texture. 

Landscaping Treatment of the land (other than buildings) for the purpose 
of enhancing or protecting amenities of the site and the 
area in which it is situated.  This includes screening by 
fences and walls, the planting of trees, hedges, shrubs and 
grass, the formation of banks, terraces and other 
earthworks, the laying out of gardens, and other amenity 
features.  

Layout The way in which buildings, routes and open spaces within 
the development are provided, situated and orientated in 

Page 30



 
 

relation to each other and to buildings and spaces outside 
of the development.  

Scale The height, width and length of each building proposed 
within the development in relation to its surroundings.  

 
3.24 The applicant has not submitted detailed floor and elevation plans for any of 

the buildings proposed in the outline element.   
 

3.25 The applicant has submitted a height parameter plan, showing potential 
building heights across the outline part of the site.  This is shown below and 
indicates that the southern area would be occupied by buildings of up to 2.5 
storeys, the northern area would be occupied by buildings of up to 1.5 
storeys and the central and eastern area would be occupied by buildings of 
up to 2 storeys.  A further parameter plan has been submitted showing the 
proposed location of the main roadway within the site. 
 

 
 

 
3.26 An illustrative masterplan has also been submitted for the whole of the site, 

which is shown below.  However, it should be noted that for the outline 
elements, this is for illustrative purposes only and could be subject to 
amendments including to the layout and scale at reserved matters stage 
should outline planning permission be granted.  The plan only shows one 
way in which the site may be developed.  It is therefore only the general 
principles of the outline elements that are under consideration for the outline 
part of the site.  

Page 31



 
 

 

Illustrative masterplan 
 

  
 

 
4. Consultations 

4.1 The following table shows those bodies consulted and their response. 

Consultee Comment 

Active Travel England No objection subject to conditions 

Biodiversity Officer 
Raises various comments on 
biodiversity  

British Pipeline Association  No objection  

County Archaeological Officer No objection subject to a condition  

County Highway Authority No objection subject to conditions 

Environment Agency No objection on flooding grounds 

Environmental Health (Air 
Quality) 

No objection subject to conditions 

Environmental Health (Land 
Contamination and Odour) 

No objection subject to conditions 

Environmental Health (Noise) No objection subject to conditions 

Lead Local Flood Authority 
(SCC) 

Raises an objection on the 
proposed surface water drainage  

Page 32



 
 

London Borough of Hounslow No objection 

National Grid None received 

National Highways No objection 

Natural England  None received  

NHS None received  

SCAN None received  

SCC Strategic Planning 
(Minerals and Waste) 

No objection 

Spelthorne Housing 
Department 

Various comments on retirement 
housing in the Borough  

Spelthorne Neighbourhood 
Services (Refuse Collection) 

No objection 

Spelthorne Strategic Planning  
Various planning policy comments 
in relation to the Green Belt and 
housing need 

Surrey County Council 
Education 

None received  

Surrey Fire Services No objection 

Surrey Police No objection subject to conditions 

Surrey Wildlife Trust 
Various comments on ecology 
issues, requested clarification on 
outstanding issues 

Sustainability Officer No objection  

Thames Water No objection 

Tree Officer No objection subject to conditions 

 

5. Public Consultation 

5.1 The NPPF seeks to encourage pre-application engagement and front loading 
and advises that “early engagement has significant potential to improve the 
efficiency and effectiveness of the planning application system for all parties. 
Good quality pre-application discussion enables better coordination between 
public and private resources and improved outcomes for the community.”  
The Council’s own Statement of Community Involvement states that the 
“Council will encourage applicants and developers to undertake pre-
application consultation and discuss their proposals with their neighbours or 
the community before submitting their formal application.” 

5.2 The applicant had two separate pre-application meetings with the Local 
Planning Authority, prior to the submission of the planning application. In 
addition, the applicant held a public exhibition in June 2022. 

5.3 Neighbour notification letters were sent out to the surrounding properties to 
notify them of this planning application. Statutory site notices were displayed 

Page 33



 
 

around the site and a press notice was issued as the proposal is a major 
application and is a departure from the development plan.  

5.4 The Council has received a total of 227 letters of objection including a letter 
of objection from the three wards Councillors.  

5.5 The issues raised include:  

- Loss of Green Belt 
- Increase in urban sprawl, land should be retained to separate 

Sunbury from Feltham  
- Brownfield sites should be used first 
- Crops have been grown on this land  
- Site was previously landfill/contained contaminated waste and 

therefore unsuitable for development  
- Site is liable to flooding 
- Pipelines under the land 
- Additional traffic congestion and emissions  
- The existing roads are dangerous and have had previous 

accidents 
- Increased demand for parking 
- Safety concern for pedestrians crossing 
- Local services and infrastructure would not be able to cope 

(schools, health care, policing, road maintenance, bus services) 
- Pressure on sewage, drainage and the electricity supply 
- No essential requirement for a care home/retirement village 
- Shortage of healthcare staff 
- Potential change of use into residential homes  
- No social housing or family sized housing provided 
- Cost of care homes would not be affordable and would stay 

empty 
- Likely to be a gated community blocking off amenities from 

locals 
- Not in keeping with the area  
- Layout, density and overcrowding  
- Loss of view, loss of light, loss of privacy, overlooking to 

neighbouring properties (Officers note: Loss of view is not a 
material planning consideration) 

- Increase in noise, disturbance and dust (Officers note: Issues of 
noise, dust and disturbance during construction is a matter for 
the Council’s Environmental Health Team) 

- Inappropriate location next to a pub and school  
- Loss of wildlife, biodiversity and green space  
- Contrary to Surrey County Council’s ‘Blue Campaign’ 
- Poor air quality 
- Land should be used as public open space 
- Development does not show any access to Kenyngton Manor 

Recreation Ground for future occupiers to make use of the open 
space 

- Application has not been fully consulted on before submitting a 
planning application  

- Property devaluation  
 

Page 34



 
 

5.6 The Council has also received 234 letters of support in relation to: 

- Retirement homes and care for elderly are needed 
- Proposal will create jobs  
- Proposal will create needed housing and free up family homes  
- Proposed scheme and facilities will benefit the local area 
- The retirement village would create a community and reduce 

isolation  
- The land is not an area of natural beauty, has a low ecological 

value and is not being used effectively 
- Alleviates pressure on GP visits with on-site medical care 
- Emerging Local Plan has failed to identify any suitable sites for 

older people  
- Existing older people care appear to only take residents on 

affordable rent.  
 
5.7 Councillors and several residents have written in regarding the validity of the 

support letters given many of these were received after the deadline for 
comments to be made and some comments are not relevant to this 
application. It is to be noted that the letters of support received are not 
located as close to the application site as the letters of objection and the LPA 
does accept late letters of representations for all applications as long as the 
planning decision has not been issued. It is important to note that when 
considering weight given to representations on planning applications, the 
decision maker needs to look at the material planning issues raised in the 
letter, not the volume of letters received.  

 

6. Planning Issues 

➢ Housing need  

➢ Green Belt 

➢ Design and appearance 

➢ Highway safety 

➢ Parking 

➢ Flooding 

➢ Affordable housing 

➢ Land contamination 

➢ Ecology 

➢ Neighbouring amenity 

➢ Future Occupiers amenity 

➢ Sustainability/renewable energy 

➢ Trees and landscaping 

➢ Air quality  

➢ Pipeline 

➢ Archaeology  

 

Page 35



 
 

7. Planning Considerations 

Housing Land Supply 

7.1 When considering planning applications for housing, local planning 
authorities should have regard to the government’s requirement that they 
significantly boost the supply of housing and meet the full objectively 
assessed need for market and affordable housing in their housing area so far 
as is consistent policies set out in the National Planning Policy Framework 
(NPPF) 2023. 
 

7.2 The Council has embarked on a review of its Local Plan and acknowledges 
that the housing target in its Core Strategy and Policies DPD February 2009 
of 166 dwellings per annum is more than five years old and therefore the 
five-year housing land supply should be measured against the area’s local 
housing need calculated using the Government’s standard method1.  The 
standard method for calculating housing need is based on the 2014 
household growth projections and local affordability. This equates to a need 
of 618 dwellings per annum in Spelthorne. This figure forms the basis for 
calculating the five-year supply of deliverable sites.  

 
7.3 The Council has considered its supply of deliverable sites, in line with the 

NPPF definition, as set out in Annex 2. The five-year time period runs from 1 
April 2023 to 31 March 2028. A 20% buffer is required to be added for 
Spelthorne in accordance with Government requirements and this should be 
applied to this full period.  A 20% buffer applied to 618 results in a figure of 
742 dwellings per annum, or 3,708 over five years.  
 

7.4 In using the objectively assessed need figure of 742 as the starting point for 
the calculation of a five-year supply it must be borne in mind that this does 
not represent a target as it is based on unconstrained need.  Through the 
Local Plan review, the Borough’s housing supply will be assessed in light of 
the Borough’s constraints, which will be used to consider options for meeting 
need. The Council has published its Strategic Land Availability Assessment 
(SLAA) which identifies potential sites for future housing development over 
the plan period.  

 
7.5 The sites identified in the SLAA as being deliverable within the first five years 

and subsequent updates from landowners have been used as the basis for a 
revised five-year housing land supply figure. Spelthorne has identified sites 
to deliver approximately 2,615 dwellings in the five-year period.  

 
7.6 The effect of this increased requirement with the application of a 20% buffer 

is that the identified sites only represent a 3.52 year supply and accordingly 
the Council cannot at present demonstrate a five year supply of deliverable 
housing sites. However, it is important to note that the site is located within 
the Green Belt. Footnote 7 of Paragraph 11 of the NPPF states that land 
designated as Green Belt is disengaged from the presumption in favour of 
sustainable development, where there is a clear reason for refusing the 
development proposed (see paras. 7.8 – 7.10 below). 

 

 
1 Planning Practice Guidance Reference ID: 68-005-20190722 

Page 36



 
 

7.7 Government guidance (NPPF para 74) requires the application of a 20% 
buffer “where there has been significant under delivery of housing over the 
previous three years”. In addition, guidance on the Housing Delivery Test 
indicates that where housing delivery falls below 85%, a buffer of 20% 
should be applied to the local authority’s five-year land supply and a 
presumption in favour of sustainable development if the figure is below 75%. 
The Housing Delivery Test result for Spelthorne Borough Council was 
published by the Secretary of State in January 2022, with a score of 69%. 
This means that less housing has been delivered when compared to need 
over the previous three years. As a consequence, there is a presumption in 
favour of sustainable development because the test score of 69% is less 
than the 75% specified in the regulations.  The figure of 69% compares with 
50% last year and 60% in 2020. The Council’s Housing Delivery Test Action 
Plan will be updated to reflect this.  The current action plan positively 
responds to the challenge of increasing its housing delivery and sets out 
actions to improve delivery within the Borough. 

 
7.8 As a result, current decisions on planning applications for housing 

development need to be based on the ‘tilted balance’ approach set out in 
paragraph 11 of the NPPF (2023). This requires that planning permission 
should be granted unless ‘any adverse impacts of doing so would 
significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits when assessed against 
the policies in this Framework taken as a whole.’ 

 
7.9 Usually as a result of the above position in Spelthorne relating to the 5 year 

housing land supply and the recent Housing Delivery Test, current decisions 
on planning applications for housing development need to be based on the 
‘tilted balance’ approach set out in paragraph 11 of the NPPF (2023). This 
requires that planning permission should be granted unless ‘any adverse 
impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the 
benefits when assessed against the policies in this Framework taken as a 
whole’. However, the NPPF at para 11d) i) makes clear that the presumption 
in favour of development does not apply where, ‘…: the application of 
policies in this Framework that protect areas or assets of particular 
importance provides a clear reason for refusing the development 
proposed…’ 

 
7.10 However, it is important to note that the NPPF at footnote 7 confirms that the 

‘’tilted balance’’ approach should not be applied to protected areas such as 
land designated as Green Belt (as is the case in this particular application), 
Local Green Spaces, Areas of Outstanding Natural Beauty, etc. As the site is 
located within the Green Belt, and there are clear reasons for refusing the 
planning application on Green Belt grounds (as demonstrated later in the 
report), it is considered that the ‘’tilted balance’’ is disengaged in this case. In 
the Green Belt, the correct decision-making process involves identifying the 
harm by way of inappropriateness and any other harm including, but not 
restricted to, other harm to the Green Belt, and applying substantial weight to 
that harm to the Green Belt.  Then in balancing the benefits of any material 
considerations very special circumstances will only exist if the benefits 
clearly outweigh the harm by way of inappropriateness and any other harm. 

 

Page 37



 
 

7.11 Taking into account the above, and adopted Policy HO1 which encourages 
new housing development in urban sites for additional housing to meet our 
Borough’s needs, it is not considered that this is a sustainable form of 
development, and it is not in the urban area, (it is a Green Belt site). New 
housing should be provided in the urban area, on sustainable sites, which 
have been previously used, not on Green Belt sites such as this. 
 

Green Belt 
 

7.12 At Section 13, the NPPF sets out the Government’s Policy on protecting 
Green Belt land.  It states that “The Government attaches great importance 
to Green Belts.  The fundamental aim of Green Belt policy is to prevent 
urban sprawl by keeping land permanently open; the essential characteristics 
of Green Belts are their openness and permanence”.  
 

7.13 At paragraph 138, the NPPF sets of the five purposes of the Green Belt.  
These are: 
 

• To check the unrestricted sprawl of large built-up areas; 

• To prevent neighbouring towns from merging into one another; 

• To assist in safeguarding the countryside from encroachment; 

• To preserve the setting and special character of historic towns; and 

• To assist in urban regeneration, by encouraging the recycling of 
derelict and other urban land.   

 
7.14 The Council’s Local Plan Policy GB1 was saved from the 2001 Local Plan 

and pre-dates the NPPF.  However, the policy is broadly consistent with the 
NPPF and is afforded significant weight.  Saved Policy GB1 does not allow 
for any development in the Green Belt unless it is one of a number of 
appropriate uses set out in the policy.  This differs from the more recent 
NPPF, which allows exceptions to inappropriate development, where the 
identified harm to the Green Belt and any other harm is clearly outweighed 
by other considerations, which constitute ‘very special circumstances’. 
 

7.15 The site is presently unallocated and is within the Green Belt in the adopted 
local plan, and therefore should be considered in this context.  The 
application site, alongside an area of land to the north, formed part of site 
SC1/010, that was considered for release from the Green Belt as part of the 
Council’s Local Plan 2022-2037.  However, the site was not taken forward for 
release.   The applicant has submitted representations (Regulation 19) 
against a number of policies in the Council’s Emerging Local Plan, including 
on the grounds that a greater number of sites should be allocated and 
requests for updates to the evidence base including the Green Belt Review.    
 

7.16 The application site also formed part of ‘parcel 16A’ in the Council’s Stage 2 
Green Belt Assessment prepared as part of the Council’s Emerging Local 
Plan 2022-2037.  The parcel, which in addition to the application site also 
included land to the north and east, was found to form “almost all of the 
essential gap between Ashford/Sunbury-on-Thames/Stanwell and Greater 
London, preventing development that would significantly and physically 
reduce the perceived and actual distance between these settlements”. 
 

Page 38



 
 

7.17 The Emerging Local Plan Policy SP4: Green Belt notes that the full Green 
Belt policy can be found in the NPPF, and this policy is not intended to 
repeat it, but provide local detail on specific policy matters. The policy states 
that:- ‘1) The Green Belt boundary is defined on the Policies Map. In order to 
uphold the fundamental aims of the Green Belt to prevent urban sprawl and 
to keep land within its designation permanently open, inappropriate 
development will not be approved unless very special circumstances can be 
demonstrated. Very special circumstances will not exist unless the potential 
harm to the Green Belt by reason of inappropriateness, and any other harm 
is clearly outweighed by other considerations.’  
  

7.18 As previously mentioned in paragraph 1.8 above, only limited weight can be 
given to the Emerging Local Plan at this stage. 
 

Inappropriate Development  
 

7.19 The NPPF states that Local Planning Authorities should regard the 
construction of new buildings as inappropriate development in the Green 
Belt.  The Framework further states that inappropriate development is by 
definition, harmful to the Green Belt and should not be approved except in 
‘very special circumstances’.  When considering any planning application 
Local Planning Authorities should ensure that substantial weight is given to 
any harm to the Green Belt.   
 

7.20 The proposals would not constitute any of the exceptions to inappropriate 
development listed in paragraph 149 and 150 of the NPPF.  The construction 
of built development on the site, is therefore considered to constitute 
inappropriate development in the Green Belt.  As mentioned above, 
inappropriate development should not be approved unless ‘very special 
circumstances’ exist, which outweigh the harm to the Green Belt and any 
other harm. 
 

7.21 The Applicant states that the past use of the site for landfill and the presence 
of high-pressure pipelines indicates that the site may constitute ‘previously 
developed land’.  The LPA does not share this view. Indeed, the NPPF’s 
glossary provides a definition of ‘previously developed land’, which 
specifically states that it excludes land that has been developed for mineral 
extraction or waste disposal by landfill, where provision for restoration has 
been made through development management procedures.      
 

Green Belt Openness  
 

7.22 The NPPF 2023 still requires there to be an assessment of the impact on the 
openness of the Green Belt and the purposes of including land within it. The 
essential characteristics of Green Belt land is its openness and its 
permanence. These characteristics serve all five purposes of the Green Belt 
(defined in section 7.9 above) against which the proposed development will 
be assessed. 
 

7.23 The courts have considered the correct approach to openness, notably in 
Turner v SSCLG [2016] EWCA Civ 466 and R (on the application of Samuel 
Smith Old Brewery and others) v North Yorkshire County Council [2020] 

Page 39



 
 

UKSC3. The courts have made clear that openness is open-textured and a 
number of factors are capable of being relevant when it comes to the facts of 
a specific case. The matters relevant to openness in any particular case are 
a matter of planning judgment. Relevant factors may include both visual and 
spatial considerations. These are examined within the following paragraphs.  
 

7.24 The site comprises 5.3 hectares (13.09 acres) of open land that is currently 
free from built development and has a rural appearance.  With the exception 
of the proposed landscape buffer, the application proposes development 
across the majority of the site, including buildings ranging from 1.5-2.5 
storeys in the outline area and up to 3-storeys in the Village Centre Building 
proposed in the full planning application.  Furthermore, the application also 
proposes associated roads and car parking areas and associated facilities.  
The construction of a significant number of buildings across the 5.3-hectare 
site that is currently free from any built development and which has a rural 
appearance, would substantially reduce openness across the site.  
 

7.25 The loss of the openness of the Green Belt would be very substantial and 
would be noticeable from Groveley Road, Vicarage Road, Bryony Road, land 
to the north of the site, and from Kenyngton Manor Recreation Ground.  It 
would also significantly reduce the visual open gap between Spelthorne and 
Greater London, with the closest part of the site being located approximately 
280 metres from Hamilton Parade in the London Borough of Hounslow.    
 

7.26 Taking into account the amount of development proposed across the open 
site, it is considered that the existing openness of the Green Belt would be 
very substantially harmed both visually and spatially.  The NPPF states that 
the fundamental aim of Green Belt policy is to prevent urban sprawl by 
keeping land permanently open.  The development of this site will 
fundamentally change the open and rural character of the site, to a 
developed area of land.  The inclusion of a landscape buffer at the north of 
the site would not mitigate or overcome this loss of openness, which weighs 
heavily against the development.  The substantial loss of openness would be 
in addition to the substantial harm caused by the inappropriateness of the 
development and is considered to have an unacceptable impact upon the 
Green Belt. 
 
Assessment of Harm 
 

7.27 Paragraph 138 of the NPPF quoted above, sets out that the Green Belt 
serves five purposes against which the proposed development should be 
assessed.  
 

7.28 The proposal would result in development across the majority of a 5.3 
hectare open and rural site, and would create unrestricted urban sprawl, 
conflicting with the first of the five purposes set out in paragraph 138.  The 
western site boundary is occupied by residential dwellings situated on the 
western side Vicarage Road and Groveley Road, which is considered to 
creates a clear boundary to the Green Belt.  The southern site boundary is 
adjoined by Bryony Way, which also presents a clear boundary with the 
Green Belt.  The proposed development would result in significant urban 
sprawl beyond the current Green Belt boundary and this would not be 

Page 40



 
 

outweighed by the introduction of a landscape buffer to the north of the site.  
The proposal would introduce built form onto a site that is currently free from 
development and would therefore create significant urban sprawl contrary to 
the first Green Belt purpose set out at paragraph 138 of the NPPF.   
 

7.29 It is noted in their planning statement the applicant has conducted their own 
review into the harm to the Green Belt, suggesting that the Green Belt 
boundaries are currently jagged and irregular, and noting that the site is 
surrounded by built form on three boundaries.  The applicant considers that 
the proposed landscape buffer would strengthen the Green Belt boundary 
providing a stronger more regular boundary.    
 

7.30 It is not unusual for the Green Belt to adjoin built development and Officer’s 
consider that Bryony Road and Feltham Brook, Vicarage Way and Groveley 
Road, currently present a clear boundary between the Green Belt and 
surrounding residential areas. The proposal would result in urban sprawl 
significantly beyond the existing Green Belt boundary and the landscape 
buffer would not mitigate or overcome the urban sprawl as a result of the 
proposals.  
 

7.31 Moreover, the site will substantially reduce the visual gap between 
Spelthorne and Greater London, with the closest part of the site being 
situated some 280 metres from Hadrian’s Parade in the London Borough of 
Hounslow.  It is noted that the applicant’s planning statement suggests that 
the site would be situated some 780 metres from Feltham. There would be 
larger gaps to Greater London in different parts of the site. The proposal 
would nevertheless substantially reduce the existing open gap between 
Spelthorne and Greater London and would therefore conflict with purpose 
two of paragraph 138, which seeks to prevent neighbouring towns from 
merging into one another.  
 

7.32 The site is also currently free from built development and has a rural 
character.  The development of 5.3 hectares of open land, would cause 
significant encroachment into the countryside conflicting with the third 
purpose of the Green Belt set out in paragraph 138.   
 

7.33 The proposal would nevertheless represent inappropriate development in the 
Green Belt, would cause significant harm to the openness of the Green Belt, 
and would conflict with the purposes of including the land within the Green 
Belt.  
 

7.34 The NPPF states the inappropriate development should not be approved 
except in 'very special circumstances', which would not exist unless the 
potential harm to the Green Belt and any other harm is clearly outweighed by 
other considerations. The applicant has put forward some considerations in 
their Planning Statement, which they consider justifies the development in 
the Green Belt. These considerations are summarised towards the end of 
this report under the Section ‘Other Considerations’.    
 

 
Design and Appearance 

Page 41



 
 

7.35 Policy EN1(a) of the CS & P DPD states that the Council will require a high 
standard in the design and layout of new development. Proposals for new 
development should demonstrate that they will: create buildings and places 
that are attractive with their own distinct identity; they should respect and 
make a positive contribution to the street scene and the character of the area 
in which they are situated, paying due regard to the scale, height, 
proportions, building lines, layout, materials and other characteristics of 
adjoining buildings and land.  
 

7.36 Policy EN8 (Protecting and Improving the Landscape and Biodiversity) of the 
CS & P DPD states that the Council will seek to protect and improve the 
landscape and biodiversity of the Borough by refusing permission where 
development would have a significant harmful impact on the landscape. 
 

7.37 Section 12 (Achieving well-designed places) of the NPPF places a strong 
emphasis on design. It states that the creation of high-quality buildings and 
places is fundamental to what the planning and development process should 
achieve. Good design is a key aspect of sustainable development, creates 
better places in which to live and work and helps make development 
acceptable to communities. Moreover, paragraph 130 of the NPPF states 
that: 
 

Planning policies and decisions should ensure that developments: 
 
a) Will function well and add to the overall quality of the area, not just for 

the short term but over the lifetime of the development; 
 

b) Are visually attractive as a result of good architecture, layout and 
appropriate and effective landscaping; 

 
c) Are sympathetic to local character and history, including the surrounding 

built environment and landscape setting, while not preventing or 
discouraging appropriate innovation or change (such as increased 
densities); 

 
d) Establish or maintain a strong sense of place, using the arrangement of 

streets, spaces, building types and materials to create attractive, 
welcoming and distinctive places to live, work and visit. 

 

7.38 The National Design Guide (NDG), Planning practice guidance for beautiful, 
enduring and successful places, produced by the former Ministry of Housing, 
Communities and Local Government (MHCLG) in 2021, sets out what makes 
well designed places. Paragraphs 43 and 44, note that well designed 
buildings do not need to copy what is already in existence but do need to 
integrate with the surroundings in a number of ways including physically, 
socially and visually: 
 
“Well-designed new development is integrated into its wider surroundings, 
physically, socially and visually. It is carefully sited and designed, and is 
demonstrably based on an understanding of the existing situation, including:  

 

Page 42



 
 

• the landscape character and how places or developments sit within the 
landscape, to influence the siting of new development and how natural 
features are retained or incorporated into it;  

 
• patterns of built form, including local precedents for routes and spaces and 

the built form around them, to inform the layout, grain, form and scale – 
see Built form;  

 
• the architecture prevalent in the area, including the local vernacular and 

other precedents that contribute to local character, to inform the form, 
scale, appearance, details and materials of new development – see 
Identity.  

 
• uses and facilities, including identifying local needs and demands that well 

located new facilities may satisfy; and  
 
• public spaces, including their characteristic landscape design and details, 

both hard and soft.  
 
However, well-designed places do not need to copy their surroundings in 
every way. It is appropriate to introduce elements that reflect how we live 
today, to include innovation or change such as increased densities, and to 
incorporate new sustainable features or systems.” 

 
7.39 The NDG also addresses how we recognise well design places by outlining 

ten characteristics; context, identity, built form, movement, nature, public 
spaces, uses, homes and buildings, resources and life span. The Built Form 
characteristic is identified as the “three dimensional pattern or arrangement 
of development blocks, streets, buildings and open spaces. It is the 
interrelationship between all these elements that creates and attractive place 
to live, work and visit rather than their individual characteristics.”  
 
“Well designed places are considered to have:  
 
• compact forms of development that are walkable, contributing positively to 

well-being and placemaking;  
 
• accessible local public transport, services and facilities, to ensure 

sustainable development; recognisable streets and other spaces with their 
edges defined by buildings, making it easy for anyone to find their way 
around, and promoting safety and accessibility; and  

 
• memorable features or groupings of buildings, spaces, uses or activities 

that create a sense of place, promoting inclusion and cohesion.” 
 

7.40 The application site comprises an open field that is entirely free of 
development. It is currently grassland, although it has been used for arable 
purposes in the past. The site forms part of a larger field that extends further 
to the north, up to where it meets a row of trees that mark the boundary with 
Staines Rugby Club. There is no boundary treatment separating the 
application site with the northern part of the field. The site and the 
surrounding open land is rural in character. The surrounding highway verge 

Page 43



 
 

along Vicarage Road and Groveley Road contains some trees and other 
vegetation. However, there are gaps in-between many of the trees and 
consequently clear views into and across the site. 
 

7.41 Vicarage Road runs along the western boundary of the site. This highway 
and the most southern part of Groveley Road forms a strong boundary 
between the urban area of Sunbury and the rural land to the east and north-
east. There is traditional suburban housing located on the western side of the 
highways. There is also a small parade of shops on the north-western side of 
Groveley Road. The only building located on the same side of the road as 
the application site is the Running Horse Public House and its car park. 
 

7.42 To the south of the site, the highway of Bryony Way also forms a strong 
boundary between the urban area of Sunbury and rural character of the open 
land. This boundary is reinforced by the adjacent Felthamhill Brook and a 
belt of trees alongside it. 
 

7.43 To the east is the Kenyngton Recreation Ground comprising playing fields, 
play areas and an ancillary building. There are extensive open views from 
the recreation ground across the application site and towards Vicarage Road 
and Groveley Road. Further to the north and east is more open land within 
the London Borough of Hounslow. This includes Staines Rugby Club. The 
large area of surrounding open land together with the application site adds to 
the strong rural character of the area. As mentioned above, this rural area 
forms a strongly performing Green Belt between the urban areas of 
Feltham/Greater London to the north and Sunbury to the south. 
 

7.44 The proposed development will involve replacing the existing open field with 
the Use Class C2 residential buildings, Village Centre building, care home 
and other associated development. The proposed buildings will be spread 
across almost the entire site, creating a clear change in the character of the 
site from rural to urban. The long-distance views across the existing field and 
the further open land beyond the site will effectively be lost because of the 
development. The scheme is therefore considered to harm the character and 
appearance of the area, contrary to Policies EN1 and EN8 of the CS & P 
DPD, and Section 12 of the NPPF. 
 

7.45 It is acknowledged that the proposed buildings facing onto Vicarage Road 
and Groveley Road will be set back from the highway to some extent, and 
there will be scope for some tree planting in the front garden areas, in 
addition to the existing trees on the highway verge. The applicant is also 
proposing to carry out tree planting within their ’Landscape Buffer” that will 
run along the northern boundary of the site. The submitted parameter plans 
show, for example, a landscape strip in front of the new care home of 
approximately 15 metres (including the existing highway verge). However, in 
relation to Kenyngton Recreation Ground, the parameter plans propose a 
landscape buffer strip of only 2 metres between the new built development 
and the eastern boundary. Despite the proposed planting, it is considered the 
proposed buildings will still be clearly visible from many public viewpoints 
along Vicarage Road, Groveley Road and the recreation ground, thereby 
harming the existing character of the area. 
 

Page 44



 
 

7.46 The applicant has submitted a Landscape and Visual Impact Assessment 
(LVIA) in support of the scheme. The LVIA concludes that the landscape 
character of the site in its local context is considered to be of “medium 
sensitivity” in landscape terms and that a scheme of mitigation proposed 
(e.g., landscape strips and tree planting) will be successful in reducing 
impacts and mitigating the overall significance of landscape and visual 
effects. The report also concludes that there is very little visibility of the site 
from the local landscape context, consequently minimising potential views of 
the proposed development. Overall, the proposed development will not result 
in significant landscape and visual effects. 
 

7.47 Whilst it is acknowledged that the application site does not have any formal 
landscape-specific designation in the Council’s Development Plan, it is 
considered that the applicant’s LVIA does not provide an accurate reflection 
of both the existing character and the impact of the proposed development. 
The site is open visually from both the site itself and the surrounding area. 
Existing tree and hedge planting along Vicarage Road and Groveley Road is 
intermittent and relatively sparse. Indeed, there are large gaps along this 
street scene that the selected views in the LVIA have not referred to. This 
existing planting is almost entirely sited on the highway verge which is not 
owned by the applicant. The two new access roads onto Vicarage Road will 
break up the existing verge and clearly have an immediate urbanising visual 
impact on the street scene. There are extensive views from the highways 
across the site and beyond over the further open land. The open character 
and views are also prevalent from the adjacent recreation ground. The 
proposed development will result in a fundamental change in the existing 
open and rural character of the area. It is not considered that the proposed 
landscape buffer strips and associated tree and shrub planting will mitigate 
against this substantial harm of building on an area of open countryside. 
 
Highway Safety 
 

7.48 Policy CC2 of the CS & P DPD states that the Council will seek to secure 
more sustainable travel patterns by only permitting traffic generating 
development where it is or can be made compatible with the transport 
infrastructure in the area taking into account:  
(i) number and nature of additional traffic movements, including servicing 

needs;   
(ii) capacity of the local transport network;  
(iii) cumulative impact including other proposed development;  
(iv) access and egress to the public highway; and  
(v) highway safety 

 
7.49 Paragraph 111 of the NPPF states that ‘Development should only be 

prevented or refused on highway grounds if there would be an unacceptable 
impact on highway safety, or the residual cumulative impacts on the road 
network would be severe.’ 
 

7.50 The proposal involves the creation of two new accesses onto Vicarage Road. 
The main access will be sited opposite 9 & 11 Vicarage Road. This new 
access is fully included within the “Full element” of the hybrid application and 
consequently, full details of its design and layout have been provided at this 

Page 45



 
 

stage. It is a bell mouth-style access with new pavements provided either 
side, that will link up with the existing pavement along Vicarage Road. 
Because the existing south-bound bus stop is located in close proximity to 
the new access, the applicant is proposing to move it to a new location 
further to the south. A new pedestrian traffic island across Vicarage Road is 
also proposed to the north of the new access. A secondary access is also 
proposed further to the south. This will provide access to the new care home. 
It will also serve as an emergency access to the Retirement Village. 
 

7.51 In terms of the proposed road layout within the site, a new circular route 
forms the main arrangement serving the Retirement Village, with the access 
and parking area serving the “Village Centre” in the middle of the site. This 
includes the details of the roadways, footways, and the location of the 
parking spaces. Although little information has been provided at this stage 
regarding the road layout of the “Outline element”, a parameter plan has 
been submitted showing the approximate location of the circular road (with 
flexibility of up to 7.5 metres deviation), and it linking up with the new 
southern access and the roadway layout associated with the “Full element”. 
The parameter plan does not, however, provide any detail regarding how the 
road will be laid out in the area of land to the east of the pipeline in the 
‘Outline’ element of the application. 
 

7.52 The County Highway Authority (CHA) was consulted on the planning 
application and has raised no objection on highway safety grounds subject to 
the imposition of conditions. The CHA has also requested a financial 
contribution of £6,150 to cover the cost of auditing a Travel Plan. The 
proposed conditions include ones necessary to secure the new pedestrian 
traffic island, the relocated and improved bus stop, and other associated 
highway works. With regard to traffic generation, the applicant has carried 
out a TRICS assessment (Trip Rate Information Computer System) which 
was used in their Transport Assessment to determine the expected vehicle 
movements to/from the site. This factors in both the Full and Outline 
elements (i.e., the proposal in full: 164 units and the 60-bed care home). The 
CHA has commented in their highway response that they consider the 
proposal provides a robust assessment and make the following comments: 
 

“The provided data for the proposed development shows that the peak hour 
departures would be 32 vehicles between 08:00 – 09:00 , and peak arrivals 
would be 31 between 17:00 – 18:00. Therefore, it is unlikely that this scale of 
trip generation would cause any capacity issues at any of the junctions on 
Vicarage Road”. 
 

7.53 Taking into account the CHA’s comments, it is considered that the proposal’s 
impact on highway safety is acceptable and the development therefore 
accords with the requirements of Policy CC2 of the CS & P DPD. 
 

 
Parking 
 

7.54 Policy CC3 (Parking Provision) of the CS & P DPD states that the Council 
will require appropriate provision to be made for off-street parking in 
development proposals in accordance with its maximum parking standards.  

Page 46



 
 

 
7.55 On 20 September 2011 the Council’s Cabinet agreed a ‘Position Statement’ 

on how Policy CC3 should now be interpreted in the light of the 
Government’s recent parking policy changes. The effect of this is that the 
Council will give little weight to the word ‘maximum’ in relation to residential 
development when applying Policy CC3 and its residential parking standards 
will generally be applied as minimum (maximum parking standards continue 
to be applicable in relation to commercial development). These minimum 
standards are applied in relation to sheltered housing and special needs 
accommodation, as well as normal residential development. In relation to 
sheltered housing, the minimum standard is 0.4 parking spaces per unit. For 
a care home, the minimum standard is 5 spaces for the first 10 residents, 
plus 1 for every additional 5 residents. 
 

7.56 Surrey County Council’s parking standards (‘Vehicle, Cycle and Electric 
Vehicle Parking Guidance for New Development February 2023’) is useful 
assistance only in relation to the planning application, particularly as it is 
much more up to date. This guidance is applied as maximum parking 
standards, even for residential development. For a suburban location it 
recommends 1 parking space for 1- & 2-bedroom flats and houses. These 
standards apply for both traditional housing and residential development 
where there is an element of care. Regarding care homes, the guidance 
recommends a maximum of 1 car space per 2 residents, or individual 
assessment/justification to be applied. 
 

7.57 With regard to the “Full element” of the hybrid application, a total of 55 
parking spaces are to be provided, and these are shown on the submitted 
site layout plan. The proposed parking spaces are to serve the new 
residents, as well as staff and visitors. Spelthorne’s Parking Standards for 
sheltered housing would require a minimum provision of 27 spaces for a 
scheme of this size. The proposed parking provision exceeds the minimum 
standard by some 28 spaces and is therefore acceptable. Surrey County 
Council’s Parking Guidance stipulates a maximum (not minimum) standard 
of 66 spaces for a development of this scale. As the proposed provision does 
not exceed this maximum standard, the proposal is also considered to 
comply with Surrey County Council’s Parking Standards. 
 

7.58 The CHA has assessed the proposed level of parking and has raised no 
objection on this issue. They make the following comments: 
 

“Overall, 55 allocated spaces have been provided for Phase 1 of the IRC 
[Full element of the Integrated Retirement Village]. Based on data from 
similar developments operated by the Applicant, it has been established 
that circa 70% of residents are car owners, suggesting that 46 spaces 
would be needed for the proposed 66 care units. However, with 28 units 
being designated ‘close-care’ it is less likely they will house residents who 
can drive. Therefore a parking demand of 27 spaces for the 38 extra-care 
units has been calculated, allowing between 9 and 27 spaces for staff and 
visitors. Generally, it is considered that the spaces are reasonably located 
with respect to the dwellings which they will serve.” 

 

Page 47



 
 

7.59 With regard to the “Outline element”, full details of the proposed level of car 
parking have not been provided at this stage, as these will be submitted as 
part of the Reserved Matters application. However, the applicant has 
submitted an ‘Illustrative Site Masterplan’ which indicates how the proposed 
98 No. extra-care units and the 60-bedroom care home associated with the 
‘Outline element’ could potentially be laid out across the site. The Masterplan 
also shows the location of the indicative car parking spaces, which would 
total 84 spaces for extra-care units and 30 spaces for the care home. As 
stated above, these parking numbers are not fixed at this stage and could 
potentially change at the Reserved Matters stage. However, the plan does 
show that this level of parking could be laid out across the site in a 
satisfactory manner whilst integrating well with the “Full element” of the 
overall scheme. If this level of parking provision was to be applied, it would 
comply with Spelthorne’s minimum standards: 40 spaces for the 98 extra-
care units and 15 spaces for the care home. 
 

7.60 It is relevant to note that the applicant states that it is proposed to provide all 
residents’ spaces with fast charge electric charging points. The remainder of 
the spaces would be provided with passive charging infrastructure to allow 
increased electric vehicle charging provision in the future. 
 

7.61 Accordingly, the proposed level of parking provision is considered acceptable 
and complies with the requirements of Policy CC3 of the CS & P DPD. 
 

Flooding 
 

7.62 Policy LO1 of the Core Strategy and Policies Development Plan Document 
(CS & P DPD) states the Council will seek to reduce flood risk and its 
adverse effects on people and property by requiring all development 
proposals within Zones 2, 3a and 3b, and developments outside this area 
(Zone 1) on sites of 0.5 ha., or of 10 dwellings or 1000m2 of non-residential 
development or more, to be supported by an appropriate Flood Risk 
Assessment (FRA). The Policy also states that the Council will require the 
reduction of the risk of flooding from surface water and its contribution to 
fluvial flooding by requiring developments to have appropriate sustainable 
drainage schemes (SuDS). 
 

7.63 The vast majority of the application site is located within Flood Zone 1 (low 
probability of flooding with less than 1 in 1000 year chance of flooding) and 
the Applicant has submitted a FRA in accordance with Policy LO1. Only the 
far southern edge of the site, adjacent to Felthamhill Brook, is located with 
the medium flood risk Zone 2. The principle of locating the proposed 
development within Flood Zone 1 is acceptable. The Environment Agency 
was consulted on the planning application and has raised no objection on 
flooding grounds. 
 

7.64 Regarding surface water drainage, the applicant has submitted details of a 
proposed sustainable drainage scheme (SuDS) designed to cover both the 
‘Full’ and ‘Outline’ elements of the development. The proposed scheme 
includes the provision of ‘swales’, underground attenuation tanks, and 
permeable paving for the new parking spaces. The Lead Local Flood 
Authority (LLFA) was consulted on the planning application and has 

Page 48



 
 

responded by raising an objection. In particular, the LLFA states that the 
proposed surface water drainage scheme does not meet the requirements of 
the NPPF, its accompanying PPG and the Non-Statutory Technical 
Standards for sustainable drainage systems. Insufficient information has 
been provided and issues have been identified. Furthermore, the LLFA 
states the following: 
 

“A surface water discharge rate of 8.1 litres/sec is proposed from the 
application site. No evidence has been supplied to demonstrate how the 
discharge rate has been calculated and whether the rate has been 
calculated based on the entire site (5.3 ha.) or the proposed positively 
drained area of the site (2.24 ha.). 
 
Many low flow control devices are available on the market to enable very 
low discharge rates to be achieved. We do not have a minimum acceptable 
discharge rate, each application is assessed on a site-by-site basis, taking 
into consideration self-cleansing velocity, space for attenuation, outfall level 
and blockage risk, etc. Supporting evidence must be submitted to justify the 
discharge rate proposed. 
 
In accordance with Technical Standard S2: 
 

‘For greenfield developments, the peak runoff rate from the development 
to any highway drain, sewer or surface water body for the 1 in 1 year 
rainfall event and the 1 in 100 year rainfall event should never exceed the 
peak greenfield runoff rate for the same event’ 

 
No evidence has been provided which confirms how the Technical Standard 
has been met. 
 
The Applicant makes reference to the use of green roofs, filter strips, and 
bioretention areas in addition to the permeable paving, swales and 
attenuation tanks which are clearly illustrated on the proposed drainage 
strategy drawing. The proposed green roofs, filter strips and bioretention 
areas should be illustrated on a plan to ensure the proposals are followed 
through to the detailed design stage.” 

 
7.65 The LLFA’s consultation response was forwarded to the Applicant. However, 

at the time of writing, no changes to the SuDS had been submitted and 
consequently the proposal is considered unacceptable on sustainable 
drainage grounds. 

 

Affordable Housing 
 
7.66 Policy HO3 of the CS & P DPD requires up to 50% of housing to be 

affordable where the development comprises 15 or more dwellings. The 
Council’s policy is to seek to maximise the contribution to affordable housing 
provision from each site having regard to the individual circumstances and 
viability, including the availability of any housing grant or other subsidy, of 
development on the site. Negotiation is conducted on an ‘open book’ basis. 
In terms of tenure, Policy HO3 states that the provision within any one 
scheme may include social rented and intermediate units, subject to the 

Page 49



 
 

proportion of intermediate units not exceeding 35% of the total affordable 
housing component. 

 
7.67 It is noted that the type of housing associated with this scheme is specialist 

‘extra-care’ and ‘close-care’ units to be occupied by residents aged 65 and 
over (Use Class C2). There is also a care home provided. Whilst this is a 
different tenure to traditional Use Class C3 dwellings, it is considered that the 
requirements of Policy HO3 to provide up to 50% affordable housing are still 
applicable for this type of specialist housing. Indeed, Strategic Policy SP2 
(Housing Provision) of the CS & P DPD states that within the overall housing 
provision total for the Plan Period, the Council will require a mix of tenure, 
size and type to meet identified housing needs, including provision to meet 
the needs of vulnerable groups. It will seek to ensure that 40% of the total 
housing provision is in the form of affordable housing. Moreover, the 
supplementary text to Policy SP2 states: 
 
“Within the overall total the form of housing provided must reflect local 
needs. These include a growth in smaller households, an increasing 
proportion of elderly people and meeting the requirements of other groups 
with specific needs.” 

 
 Whilst the emerging Local Plan has limited weight at this stage, it is relevant 

to note that draft Policy H2 (Affordable Housing) is proposed to be amended 
so that the requirement to provide affordable housing will apply to all 
residential development falling within Use Classes C2, C3, and C4. 

 
7.68 With regard to the proposed housing, all of the new ‘extra-care’ and ‘close-

care’ units are to be privately owned and managed.  None of the units are to 
be provided as affordable housing. In accordance with Policy HO3, the 
Applicant has submitted a financial viability report to show why they consider 
it is not viable to provide any affordable housing on the site. The Applicant 
states that the notable reasons for it not being viable include the inability to 
compete on land prices with market housebuilders, increasing build costs, 
and revenues generated from the care home element and extra-care units 
fall below standard saleable values. 
 

7.69 The viability report has been reviewed on an ‘open book’ basis by the 
Council’s valuation advisor (BPS Chartered Surveyors). The valuation 
advisor disagrees with many of the facts and figures provided in the viability 
report. They consider that the proposed development could produce a 
provisional surplus of between £2,487,831 to £27,081,420. On this basis, 
they have calculated that the scheme would be able to make a significant 
contribution towards affordable housing. They note that their position is not 
yet finalised pending further cost information from the Applicant. This 
additional information was requested, but the Applicant has declined to 
provide it, thereby preventing the Local Planning Authority from thoroughly 
assessing the viability of the proposal. Consequently, the lack of any 
affordable housing provision on the site is considered unacceptable and the 
scheme does not accord with the requirements of Policy HO3 of the CS & P 
DPD. 
 

Page 50



 
 

7.70 Notwithstanding the submitted financial viability report, the Applicant states in 
their Planning Statement that they consider that this type of specialist 
housing proposed is exempt from the need to provide affordable housing. 
They refer to Paragraph 65 of the NPPF where there is a specified 
exemption relating to specialist accommodation for groups of people with 
specific needs (such as purpose-built accommodation for the elderly or 
students). Paragraph 65 is set out in full below: 
 

“Where major development involving the provision of housing is proposed, 
planning policies and decisions should expect at least 10% of the total 
number of homes to be available for affordable home ownership, unless this 
would exceed the level of affordable housing required in the area, or 
significantly prejudice the ability to meet the identified affordable housing 
needs of specific groups. Exemptions to this 10% requirement should also 
be made where the site or proposed development: 
 
a) Provides solely for Build to Rent homes; 
b) Provides specialist accommodation for a group of people with specific 

needs (such as purpose-built accommodation for the elderly or 
students); 

c) Is proposed to be developed by people who wish to build or commission 
their own homes; or 

d) Is exclusively for affordable housing, an entry-level exception site or a 
rural exception site.” 

 
7.71 The Council does not consider that the exemption referred to in Paragraph 

65 b) of the NPPF has been correctly interpreted by the Applicant. The 
exemption relates specifically to providing a 10% provision of ‘affordable 
home ownership’ as part of an overall provision of affordable housing on 
major developments. Whilst the Applicant may be exempt from providing an 
element of ‘affordable home ownership’, they are still required to provide 
other tenures of affordable housing. 
 

7.72 Accordingly, the application is unacceptable on affordable housing grounds. 
 
 

Land Contamination 
 
7.73 Policy EN15 (Development on Land Affected by Contamination) of the CS & 

P DPD states that the Council will ensure that where development is 
proposed on land that may be affected by contamination, action will be taken 
to ensure the site is safe or will be made safe for its intended use. Where 
applicants failed to demonstrate to the Council’s satisfaction that treatment of 
contamination will be carried out appropriately to a standard sufficient to 
enable the development to be safely occupied then permission will be 
refused. 
 

7.74 Paragraph 174 (of Section 15: Conserving and enhancing the natural 
environment) of the NPPF states that: 
 

Planning policies and decisions should contribute to and enhance the 
natural and local environment by: 

Page 51



 
 

 

e) Preventing new and existing development from contributing to, being put 
at unacceptable risk from, or being adversely affected by, unacceptable 
levels of soil, air, water or noise pollution or land instability. Development 
should, wherever possible, help to improve local environmental 
conditions such as air and water quality, taking into account relevant 
information such as rive basin management plans; and  
 

f) Remediating and mitigating despoiled, degraded, derelict, contaminated 
and unstable land, where appropriate. 

 
7.75 The site and the wider surrounding area was previously subject to gravel 

extraction and was used as a landfill site. It was filled in the 1950’s with inert 
waste. As it is an historic landfill, it predates modern landfill standards. The 
site comprises a top layer of natural soil which enables the land to be used 
for agricultural purposes. However, underneath the top layer, the ground is 
contaminated due to the inert waste associated with the former landfill. 
Indeed, the Applicant has submitted a ‘Desk Study and Ground Investigation 
Report’ which confirms that the ground contains elevated levels of 
contaminants. The Applicant has also submitted a Remediation Report, and 
other associated information. 
 

7.76 The Council’s Pollution Control Officer (Environmental Health) was consulted 
on the planning application and has responded by raising no objection 
subject to the imposition of conditions. The Officer is satisfied with the 
Applicant’s potential foundation methods for the site and that suitable 
mitigation measures can be secured to prevent any adverse impacts. 
Accordingly, the proposal is considered acceptable on contaminated land 
grounds. 

 
 

Ecology 
 

7.77 Policy EN8 of the CS & P DPD states that the Council will seek to protect 
and improve the landscape and biodiversity of the Borough by ensuring that 
new development, wherever possible, contributes to an improvement in the 
landscape and biodiversity and also avoids harm to features of significance 
in the landscape or of nature conservation interest. It is also importance to 
note the guidance regarding protected species in Circular 06/2005. This 
states that "it is essential that the presence or otherwise of protected species 
and the extent that they may be affected by the proposed development, is 
established before the planning permission is granted, otherwise all relevant 
material considerations may not have been addressed in making the 
decision."  The NPPF states that “If significant harm resulting from a 
development cannot be avoided (through locating on an alternative site with 
less harmful impacts), adequately mitigated, or, as a last resort, 
compensated for, then planning permission should be refused.” 

 
7.78 There are a significant number of existing trees located on the application 

site. Almost all of them are located along the edge of the site, particularly 
along the Vicarage Road frontage. Some of them are sited on the existing 
highway verge, which is included within the red line of the application site.  

Page 52



 
 

 
7.79 The Applicant has submitted an Ecological Assessment report with the 

planning application. Given the former landfill history of the site, the existing 
habitats are limited and are at most considered of ‘local importance’. The 
Assessment concludes that appropriately worded conditions can be imposed 
to ensure that there is no overall harm to the habitats on the site. It is 
relevant to note that the proposed development involves a substantial new 
planting scheme, including the planting of many new trees. In terms of bats 
(protected species), the Applicant has carried out a Preliminary Bat Roost 
Assessment to ascertain the potential of existing trees to support roosting 
bats. The Assessment states that 3 no. trees to have moderate potential to 
support roosting bats and recommends two nocturnal surveys to be 
subsequently carried out. The results of the survey have revealed an 
occasional/transition roost of Daubentons bat in one of the trees (referred in 
the survey as T1). 
 

7.80 The Surrey Wildlife Trust was consulted on the application and has made 
various comments and recommendations on the Ecological Assessment and 
the proposal’s impact on wildlife. They highlight some outstanding issues that 
need clarifying prior to the determination of the application. With regard to 
the bat survey, they consider the information to be inadequate and have 
made the following comments: 
 

“The above referenced Tree Survey Schedule identifies 37 trees, five tree 
groups, and nine ‘newly planted trees in highway verge’ on-site. However, 
Table 2.2 in the above referenced Ecological Assessment appears to 
suggest that only seven trees were assessed for their suitability to support 
roosting bats. Furthermore, as the tree reference numbers in the 
Ecological Assessment and the above referenced Tree Constraints Plan 
do not correspond it is not clear which trees with bat roost suitability are to 
be retained or removed. For instance, the tree referenced T1 in the 
Ecological Assessment that has been found to support roosting bats, does 
not appear on the Tree Constraints plan or in the Tree Survey Schedule. 
 
Also, the tree referenced T4 is showing in Table 2.2 of the Ecological 
Assessment as having moderate potential, and therefore requiring further 
nocturnal survey, but is shown on the Habitat Features and Preliminary 
Bat Roost Assessment Plan appended to the report as being of low 
potential.  
 
We advise that prior to determination of the current planning application 
the applicant clarifies that all trees on-site have been subject to a bat 
preliminary ground level roost assessment; that the impacts to any trees 
identified as having suitability to support roosting bats are clearly 
assessed; and that the suitability of the tree referenced T4 to support 
roosting bats is clarified.” 

 

7.81 In view of the above outstanding issues, the response from Surrey Wildlife 
Trust was forwarded to the Applicant requesting further information to be 
submitted. At the time of writing, no further information regarding the bat 
survey was received. Taking into account the advice in Circular 06/2005, it is 

Page 53



 
 

not possible at this stage to ascertain the presence or otherwise of bats on 
the site and accordingly, the application is unacceptable on this ground. 
 
 

Neighbouring Amenity  

Full Planning Application  

7.82 Policy EN1 (b) of the CS & P DPD requires that all new developments 
achieve a satisfactory relationship to adjoining properties avoiding significant 
harmful impacts in terms of loss of privacy, daylight, sunlight, or overbearing 
effect due to bulk proximity or outlook. 
 

7.83 The Council’s Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) on the ‘Design of 
Residential Extensions and New Residential Development’ acknowledges 
that most developments will have some impact on neighbours, but the aim 
should be to ensure that the amenity of adjoining occupiers is not 
significantly harmed. 
 

7.84 No part of the development would directly adjoin neighbouring properties, 
therefore the proposal is considered to retain an appropriate level of amenity 
to surrounding properties. 
 

7.85 The nearest building to the application site is The Running Horse Pub, given 
its irregular location squared into the open land. This public house benefits 
from a car park to the south and a garden and open seating area to the east. 
On the north west boundary of the application site with this public house site, 
the proposed single storey maintenance store/energy centre would be 
situated close to the boundary, measuring approximately 4.8 metres in height 
to the ridge and 19 metres in length. Further north there is proposed to be a 
cycle storage adjacent to the boundary measuring 2.6 metres in height with a 
flat roof. 
 

7.86 Although the cycle storage would be adjacent to the garden and open 
seating area sitting for the Public House, it is considered that the height in 
combination with the use of the building would not result in a harmful impact 
on the adjoining users of the Public House. The maintenance store/energy 
centre would be situated nearest to the car park serving the Public House, as 
a result, this is also considered to have an acceptable impact on the 
adjoining site. In a similar manner, the impact of Cottage S4 is considered to 
be acceptable as this would be nearest to the car park to the south of the 
Running Horse with a 29 metre separation distance from the conservatory of 
this public house. 
 

7.87 To the north west of the site on the opposite side of the highway on the 
corner of Groveley Road there is a parade of shops, with commercial use on 
the ground floor and residential uses above.  These shops are three storey in 
scale and would have a proposed separation distance of 34 metres with 
Block 1 which would measure approximately 9.6 metres in height.  Block 1 
would have a balcony on the first floor of the north west elevation, however 
given the separation distance and the angle at which this block is orientated 
this would not result in any direct overlooking or loss of privacy to the first 
floor residential units above the parade of shops. 

Page 54



 
 

 

7.88 The residential properties to the west of the site on the opposite side of the 
highway on Vicarage Way are traditional two-storey, lower density family 
sized dwellings. The building heights of proposed blocks 1, 1a, 2 and 3 along 
the western perimeter of the site are considered to respect the dwellings on 
Vicarage Road with an average ridge height of 9 metres. 
 

7.89 The existing properties on Vicarage Road are set-back from the carriageway 
by approximately 15 metres and the proposed the proposed buildings would 
follow this pattern with a similar set-back from the carriageway, resulting in a 
separation distance in the range of a separation distance in the range of 37 - 
41 metres. Given the separation distance and the proposed future screening 
with trees, the impact on the residential properties on Vicarage Road is 
considered to be acceptable. 
 

7.90 In regards to the letters of objection received which made reference to a loss 
of view, it is to be noted that home owners do not have a right to an 
uninterrupted view, therefore the change in the view from these houses is not 
a material planning consideration. 
 

Outline Application 
 

7.91 The outline application has been submitted with all matters reserved. 
However, as part of the application, the applicant has submitted ‘parameter’ 
plans on the access, building heights and land use of the proposed 
development.  
 

7.92 Bryony Way which is situated to the south of the site consists of residential 
properties and Kenyngton Manor Primary School further along the road. No. 
56 Vicarage Road is situated on the corner with Bryony Way and further east 
there is a building with several maisonettes. Maisonettes No. 48 and No. 46 
have their front elevations facing north onto the application site and No. 64 is 
situated on the corner plot as Bryony Way follows through further south. 
 

7.93 The proposed land use parameter plans indicate that the area opposite these 
residential buildings would be for a Care Home, with the parameter height 
plans indicating a height of up to 2.5 storeys (up to 10 metres +/- 1 metre to 
the top of the ridge line). 
 

7.94 Given the existing proposed area of green space between the care home 
location and the southern site boundary, which would measure 
approximately 14 metres in width and Felthamhill Brook, the impact of 
development on the residential properties and the Primary School on Bryony 
Way is considered to be acceptable owing to distance and tree screening. 
 

7.95 To the east of the existing pipeline there is proposed to be extra-care units 
with a height of up to 2 storeys. Similarly, it is considered that the access 
road leading to Kenyngton Manor Recreation Ground, Felthamhill Brook and 
the thick screen of trees would provide an appropriate separation distance to 
mitigate any harmful loss of neighbouring amenity to the properties on 
Kenyngton Drive. 

 

Page 55



 
 

 

Future Occupiers Amenity 

7.96 The nationally described Technical Housing Standards (THS) (March 2015), 
stipulates minimum internal floor area requirements for variously sized units.  
The following minimum requirements are relevant to the application: 
 

• 1x bedroom, 1x storey, 2x person dwelling: 50m² 

• 2x bedroom, 1x storey, 3x person dwelling: 61m² 

• 2x bedroom, 1x storey, 4x person dwelling: 70m²  

• 2x bedroom, 2x storey, 4x person dwelling: 79m² 
 

7.97 The THS also states that a single bedroom should incorporate a minimum 
internal floor area of at least 7.5m² and a double bedroom should incorporate 
a minimum floor area of at least 11.5m². 
 

7.98 The proposed units all adhere to the minimum unit sizes stipulated in the 
THS.  However, it is noted that ‘Bedroom 2’ serving ‘Plot 29’ and ‘Plot 32’ 
measures approximately 6.9m² falling short of the 7.5m² minimum floor 
space set out in the THS.  Whilst not ideal, when considered in the context 
the proposal as a whole, a 0.6m² shortfall is not considered to cause 
sufficient harm to reasonably justify a recommendation for refusal. 
 

7.99 It is also noted that all of the dwellings in the ‘Village Centre’ building would 
be single aspect and none of the kitchens, which constitute habitable rooms, 
would be served by a window.  As such, no outlook would be provided to the 
occupiers of these rooms, which is not considered to be ideal, although it is 
not considered that an objection could be sustained on these grounds alone.  
 

7.100 The plans also show that each of the units would contain a ground floor 
terrace or balcony, which is considered to be satisfactory.   

 
 

Sustainability/renewable energy 

 

7.101 Policy CC1 of the Council’s CS & P DPD states that the Council will support 
the provision of renewable energy, energy efficiency and will promote 
sustainable development generally by including measures to provide at least 
10% of the development’s on-site renewable energy sources to be provided 
by renewable sources, unless it can be shown that it would serious threaten 
the viability of the development.   
 

7.102 The applicant has submitted an energy strategy, which indicates that air 
source heat pumps, ground source heat pumps and photovoltaic panels are 
proposed to be included in the development proposals. The report has been 
reviewed by the Council’s Sustainability Officer who has confirmed that the 
application meets the renewable energy requirement. The proposal is 
therefore considered to be in accordance with the objectives of Policy CC1. 
 

Trees and landscaping 
 

Page 56



 
 

7.103 It should be noted that landscaping is a matter that has been reserved in the 
outline application. 
 

7.104 In regards to the ‘full application’ Policy EN8 of the CS & P DPD states that 
the Council will seek to protect and improve the landscape and biodiversity in 
the Borough by ensuring that new development wherever possible 
contributes to an improvement in the landscape and avoids harm to features 
of significance in the land scape or of nature conservation importance.   
 

7.105 At paragraph 131, the NPPF states that Trees make an important 
contribution to the character and quality of urban environments and can also 
help mitigate and adapt to climate change.  Planning decisions should 
ensure that new streets are tree lined, opportunities are taken to incorporate 
trees elsewhere in developments and appropriate measures are put in place 
to secure long term maintenance of newly planted trees.   
 

7.106 The application has been reviewed by the Council’s Tree Officer, who has 
raised no objections subject to the securing of an Arboricultural Method 
Statement and Tree Protection Plan.  Had the proposal been acceptable in 
all other regards, it would have been recommended that this was secured by 
condition.  
 

7.107 Furthermore, in the event that the proposal been considered acceptable in all 
other regards, a landscaping condition would have been attached to the 
decision notice to secure landscaping details for the ‘full’ element.   
 

Air Quality  
 

7.108 Policy EN3 of the of the Council’s CS & P DPD states that the Council will 
seek to improve the air quality of the borough and to minimise harm from 
poor air quality. This includes but is not limited to, refusing development 
where the adverse effects on air quality are of a significant scale, either 
individually or in combination with other proposals, and which are not 
outweighed by other important considerations or effects cannot be 
appropriately and effectively mitigated. 

 
7.109 The applicant has submitted an Air Quality Assessment, which has been 

reviewed by the Council’s Environmental Health Department. There were 
queries regarding the information contained within the submissions relating 
to the assessment of the impacts on air quality and to securing sustainable 
travel measures. These queries were forwarded onto the applicant, however, 
no response had been received from the applicant at the time of writing this 
report. Therefore, the Council’s Environmental Health Department 
recommends conditions be attached to the decision notice in the case of an 
approval and that a revised air quality assessment be secured as a 
requirement under reserved matters as further air quality assessment would 
be required for the outline part of the application.  
 

Pipeline 
 

7.110 The Walton to Heathrow High Pressure Pipeline crosses part of the 
application site and is managed by the British Pipeline Association (BPA). 

Page 57



 
 

The indicative site layout submitted as part of the scheme illustrates that 
there will need to be a roadway and two footpaths constructed over the 
pipeline easement area in order to access the southern part of the site. BPA 
have been consulted on this application and have no in principle objection to 
the works. 
 

Archaeology 

 
7.111 Whilst the application site itself is not situated within an area of high 

archaeological importance, the Council’s Saved Local Plan Policy BE26 from 
Spelthorne Borough Local Plan 2001 states that ‘Outside the defined areas 
of high archaeological potential, the Borough Council will require an agreed 
scheme of archaeological assessment or evaluation appropriate for the site 
concerned to be submitted with any new development proposal for a site 
larger than 0.4 ha, and for smaller sites if deemed necessary. 
 

7.112 No archaeological assessment had been submitted with this application, 
however, the County Archaeology Officer has been consulted on this and 
raises no objection subject to the imposition of a condition to secure the 
implementation of a programme of archaeological investigation. 
 

Other matters 
 

7.113 Policy HO4 of the of the Council’s CS & P DPD on Housing Size and Type 
which states that the Council will ensure that the size and type of housing 
reflects the needs of the community by, encouraging the provision of housing 
designed to meet the needs of older people, including the provision of 400 
units of extra care housing on suitable sites over the period 2006 to 2026. It 
is considered that the proposal would accord with Policy HO4, providing a 
total of 136 extra-care units and 28 ‘close-care’ units.  
 

7.114 With regard to Policy CO3 (Provision of Open Space for New Development), 
it is not considered the Applicant is required to provide a proportion of open 
space to accommodate a children’s play area for this particular type of 
development. The proposal does not involve the creation of any family 
dwellings. Notwithstanding the proposed use, there are areas of open space 
provided as part of the new development and there is a large existing 
recreation ground located immediately adjacent the application site. 
 

Equalities Act 2010 
 

7.115 This planning application has been considered in light of the Equality Act 
2010 and associated Public Sector Equality Duty, where the Council is 
required to have due regard for:  
 

7.116 The elimination of discrimination, harassment and victimisation; The 
advancement of equality of opportunity between persons who share a 
relevant protected characteristic and person who do not share it; The 
fostering of good relations between persons who share a relevant protected 
characteristic and person who do not share it; which applies to people from 
the protected equality groups. 
 

Page 58



 
 

Human Rights Act 1998 
 

7.117 This planning application has been considered against the provisions of the 
Human Rights Act 1998. 
 

7.118 Under Article 6 the applicants (and those third parties who have made 
representations) have the right to a fair hearing and to this end full 
consideration will be given to their comments. 
 

7.119 Article 8 and Protocol 1 of the First Article confer a right to respect private 
and family life and a right to the protection of property, i.e. peaceful 
enjoyment of one's possessions which could include a person's home, and 
other land and business assets. 
 

7.120 In taking account of the Council policy as set out in the Spelthorne Local 
Plan and the NPPF and all material planning considerations, Officers have 
concluded on balance that the rights conferred upon the applicant/ objectors/ 
residents/ other interested party by Article 8 and Article 1 of the First Protocol 
may be interfered with, since such interference is in accordance with the law 
and is justified in the public interest. Any restriction of these rights posed by 
the refusal of the application is legitimate since it is proportionate to the wider 
benefits of such a decision, is based upon the merits of the proposal, and 
falls within the margin of discretion afforded to the Council under the Town & 
Country Planning Acts. 
 

Financial Considerations 
 

7.121 Under S155 of the Housing and Planning Act 2016, Local Planning 
Authorities are now required to ensure that potential financial benefits of 
certain development proposals are made public when a Local Planning 
Authority is considering whether or not to grant planning permission for 
planning applications which are being determined by the Council’s Planning 
Committee. A financial benefit must be recorded regardless of whether it is 
material to the Local Planning Authority’s decision on a planning application, 
but planning officers are required to indicate their opinion as to whether the 
benefit is material to the application or not.  It is relevant to note that the 
proposal is not a CIL chargeable development due to it being specialist 
housing for the elderly (Use Class C2). The proposal will generate a New 
Homes Bonus and Council Tax payments which are not material 
considerations in the determination of this proposal.   

 

Other Considerations 
 

7.122 The proposal would constitute inappropriate development in the Green Belt.  
In line with the NPPF, the LPA attaches substantial weight to this harm. It 
would also cause substantial harm to the openness of the Green Belt, by 
introducing development across the majority of the 5.3-hectare site that is 
currently open and rural in character and free from built form.  The LPA also 
attaches substantial weight to this harm, which weighs heavily against the 
proposals.  Moreover, the proposal would also conflict with the NPPF 
purposes of including the land within the Green Belt, as it would substantially 

Page 59



 
 

increase urban sprawl and reduce the visual gap between Spelthorne and 
Greater London.  The proposal would also encroach onto open countryside. 
 

7.123 The NPPF states that inappropriate development in the Green Belt should 
not be approved except in very special circumstances.  When considering 
any planning application, the NPPF also states that Local Planning 
Authorities should ensure that substantial weight is given to any harm to the 
Green Belt.  ‘Very special circumstances’ will not exist unless the potential 
harm to the Green Belt by reason of inappropriateness and any other harm 
resulting from the proposals is clearly outweighed by any other 
considerations.  
 

7.124 In addition to Green Belt harm, the other harm identified in this report relates 
to the harm to the existing rural character and appearance of the site, the 
submission of insufficient information to demonstrate that the full impact to 
bats has been assessed, a failure to demonstrate that flood risk would be 
minimised to an acceptable level, and the failure to provide any affordable 
housing.   
 

7.125 The applicant has put forward 3 material considerations in their Planning 
Statement to justify the proposed development, which they believe comprise 
‘very special circumstances’. These are: 
 

i) The contribution to Housing Land Supply. 
 

ii) Addressing what the applicant considers to be a significant 
shortfall in Extra Care requirements in Spelthorne. 
 

iii) Sustainability benefits. 
 
7.126 The matters are each assessed below. 
 

The Contribution Towards Housing Land Supply 
 

7.127 The applicant’s planning statement draws attention to paragraph 11 d) of the 
NPPF and the presumption in favour of sustainable development where 
policies which are most important for determining the application are out of 
date.  
 

7.128 Whilst not covered in the ‘very special circumstances’ section of their 
planning statement, the applicant has also submitted an ‘Assessment of 
Spelthorne’s Five Year Housing Land Supply’, which suggests that the 
Council can only support a housing land supply of 2.75 years. 
 

7.129 The applicant also states that the majority of development in the borough is 
on previously developed land and given the limited supply of deliverable sites 
in the borough, this provides a significant constraint on the delivery of 
housing, as housing cannot be accommodated solely on brown field land. As 
such the applicant considers that Green Belt release is required to facilitate 
substantial development.  
 

Response 

Page 60



 
 

 

7.130 The LPA calculates that it can demonstrate a housing land supply of 3.52 
years, although it is not disputed that a 5-year housing land supply cannot be 
demonstrated.  
 

7.131 At paragraph 11, the NPPF states that planning decisions should apply a 
presumption in favour of sustainable development.  For decision making, 
where there are no relevant development plan policies, or the policies that 
are most important for determining the application are out of date (including 
where a 5-year housing supply cannot be demonstrated), the NPPF advises 
that planning permission should be granted, unless policies relating to 
protected areas provides a clear reason for refusing the development.   
   

7.132 At footnote 7, the NPPF clarifies that protected areas includes land 
designated as Green Belt and therefore the ‘tilted balance is not applicable’.  
In this instance, the application proposes inappropriate development, which 
has a significant adverse impact upon the Green Belt and significantly 
reduces openness, increases urban sprawl, and substantially reduces the 
visual gap between Spelthorne and Greater London.   As such, the LPA 
considers that there is a clear reason for refusing the application when it is 
assessed against the policies in the Framework.   
 

7.133 Notwithstanding the absence of the ‘tilted balance’, the proposal would 
nevertheless make a significant contribution to the to the Council’s 5-year 
housing land supply, comprising 136 extra care units across the outline and 
full elements, 28 close care units, in addition to the 60-bed care home, which 
weighs in the developments favour and is attributed significant weight.  
 

7.134 The release of land from the Green Belt is also a matter for the Local plan 
process.  Land cannot be released in an individual planning application.   

 

Addressing what the applicant considers to be a significant shortfall in 
Extra Care requirements in Spelthorne. 

 
7.135 The applicant has submitted a ‘Social needs report supporting the 

development of extra care accommodation and a care home for older people 
in the area of Spelthorne’.  The report suggests that there are currently 675 
bedspaces in care homes in Spelthorne, and 557 specialist housing units, 
159 of which can be considered ‘housing with care’.  The report further 
identifies that there is a need for at least 282 market care units in 2022, 
increasing to 384 market extra care units by 2040.   
 

7.136 The applicant also considers that the Council’s Local Plan 2022-2037, has 
underestimated the required level of market extra care.  The report notes that 
2021 Census data indicates that there are 18,600 individuals who are over 
65 and over living in Spelthorne, including 2,900 who are aged 85 and over. 
The report further suggests that between 3,600 to 8,200 older people 
currently require care and support to varying degrees, which is projected to 
increase to between 5,000 to 11,000 by 2040.   

 
 Response 

Page 61



 
 

 
7.137 The Council’s Strategic Housing Market Assessment (SHMA), prepared as 

part of the Council’s Local Plan 2022-2037, identifies a deficit of 358 rented 
houses with support, 728 leasehold houses with support, 116 rented housing 
with care units, 288 leasehold housing with care spaces and 589 care be 
spaces by 2035.    
 

7.138 The Council’s Local Plan 2022-2037 seeks to deliver 9,270 new homes, 
which equates to 618 homes per year.  The Council’s Strategic Planning 
Department has confirmed that the 618 requirement includes provision for 
meeting the needs of elderly people.   
 

7.139 Whilst sites have not been specifically allocated for C2 uses in the Local Plan 
2022-2037, Policy H1 would seek to support the provision of elderly housing 
for people on suitable sites.  As such, housing provision for the elderly is 
accounted for in the Emerging Local Plan, although the applicant considers 
that there is an under provision for market care.  However, it should also be 
noted that at this stage, the Council’s Emerging Local Plan only attracts 
limited weight.  
 

7.140 In any event, the proposal would provide 136 extra care units (38 in the full 
element, 98 in the outline), 28 close care units and up to 60 care home 
bedspaces.  This weighs in the developments favour and the contribution of 
specialist housing is attributed significant weight.  
 

Sustainability benefits  
 

7.141 The applicant also considers that the sustainability benefits of the proposals 
would constitute a ‘very special circumstance’.  They suggest that there are 
Economic, Social and Environmental Benefits of the proposals.  
 

7.142 The applicant considers that the economic benefits include the provision of 
employment opportunities, including during the construction period and as a 
result of indirect jobs.  They also consider that the proposals would improve 
choice and competition in the residential market place. 
 

7.143 The applicant considers that the social benefits would include the creation of 
a strong and balanced community, and the release of housing stock for 
conventional occupiers. They also note that the proposal would include a 
new medical facility.  
 

7.144 The applicant also considers that the proposal would deliver significant 
ecological enhancements, including enhancements to soil conditions, 
landscape improvements and biodiversity and ecological enhancements.   
 
Response 
 

7.145 The applicant’s renewable energy statement has been reviewed by the 
Councils Sustainability Officer, who has confirmed that the proposal 
significantly exceeds that Council’s 10% renewable energy requirement set 
out in policy CC1. All developments regardless of whether they are in the 

Page 62



 
 

Green Belt or on brownfield land are expected to comply with this policy.  
This is therefore attributed limited weight.    
 

7.146 The applicant also suggests that the proposal would create jobs both during 
and after the construction process and they also consider that there would be 
social benefits as the proposal would create a strong and balance 
community.  Whilst employment opportunities would be a benefit, this would 
only attract limited weight.  
 

7.147 The applicant further considers that the proposals would release under-
occupied housing stock into the market.  There would be some benefit to 
this, although any development for new units in any part of the borough has 
the potential to free up other dwellings.  Moreover, there would be no 
planning control over whether future occupiers would be moving from 
existing dwellings within Spelthorne or other areas outside of the borough 
and so this benefit is only attributed limited weight. 
 

7.148 The applicant further considers that the proposal would provide 
environmental benefits through ecological enhancements and enhancements 
to soil.  Whilst this is noted, it is important to note that there are some 
outstanding ecology issues associated with the scheme.   
 

7.149 The provision of facilities within the site, including a proposed medical facility 
would provide some benefits and is attributed moderate weight.  
 

Other Matters 
 
7.150 Although not listed as a ‘very special circumstance’ in the applicant’s 

planning statement, an alternative sites survey has been put forward, which 
of the 189 sites considered, concludes that only one site would meet the 
applicants’ requirements (land to the west of Long Lane and South of 
Blackburn Trading Estate).   
 

7.151 In the assessment, viability was considered, as the applicant has indicated 
that they cannot compete with C3 Housebuilders in this regard.  Sites with 
planning permission for a C3 use were therefore not considered. 
 

7.152 The assessment also considered amenity, topography and site layout, 
settlement links and access.  It is also understood that only sites available 
within the applicant’s timescale were considered, and sites with complicated 
land ownerships were also excluded.    
 

7.153 The assessment also only considered sites over 3ha, as the applicant 
considers that a site of this size is required to provide the village core, net 
gain requirements and landscaping.   
 

Response 
 

7.154 The LPA considers that sites that do not fit the applicant’s particular 
operating model should not be excluded for potential C2 use, as there are 
other providers and operators who may be able to achieve C2 use on sites 
smaller than 3 hectares. 

Page 63



 
 

 

7.155 Given the parameters employed by the alternative site assessment, it is not 
considered that it has been demonstrated that there are no other sites 
available (other than land to the west of Long Lane and to the South of 
Blackburn Trading Estate) that could support a C2 use.  It is therefore 
considered that only limited weight should be attributed to the applicant’s 
alternative sites assessment.  
 

Conclusion 
 

7.156 The proposal could make a significant contribution to the Council’s 5-year 
housing land supply through the provision of 136 extra care units and 28 
close care units, which is attributed significant weight.  The application would 
also provide a combined total of 164 extra care and close units, and 60 care 
home spaces, where there is a requirement for such spaces that is likely to 
increase over time with an expanding elderly population.  The proposal 
would therefore provide specialist housing in the borough, which is attributed 
significant weight. 
 

7.157 The Council’s Emerging Local Plan 2022-2037, would support provision for 
elderly housing needs through policy H1, although would not allocate specific 
sites for this use.  However, at this stage, only limited weight can be given to 
the Emerging Local Plan.   
 

7.158 The proposal would also provide other benefits, with limited weight attributed 
to employment opportunities.  Moderate weight is also attributed to the 
provision of facilities within the site including the proposed medical facility.  
However, only limited weight is also attributed to the applicant’s assessment 
of alternative sites given the parameters employed.   
 

7.159 Nevertheless, the proposals would represent inappropriate development in 
the Green Belt, which in itself weighs heavily against the merits of the 
scheme, and which the NPPF advises, should be attributed substantial 
weight.  The proposal would also very substantially reduce the openness of 
the Green Belt, to which the LPA also attributes substantial weight.   
 

7.160 Furthermore, the proposal would conflict with three of the purposes of 
including the land within the Green Belt outlined in paragraph 138 of the 
NPPF.  The proposal would result in significant urban sprawl across the 
majority of the 5.3 hectare site and would significantly reduce the visual gap 
between Spelthorne and Greater London conflicting with the purpose of 
preventing neighbouring towns from merging into one another.  The scheme 
would also encroach into the countryside in an open and rural site.   
 

7.161 Moreover, the proposal would cause harm to the open and rural character of 
the site contrary to the objectives of Policy EN1 and the NPPF to which 
substantial weight is also attributed. 
 

7.162 Furthermore, it has not been demonstrated that the development would have 
an acceptable impact upon bats or that the proposals would have an 
acceptable impact upon flood risk, which is also attributed significant weight. 
 

Page 64



 
 

7.163 The applicant has also not demonstrated that the provision of affordable 
housing would be unviable.  The absence of any affordable housing would 
be contrary to the objectives of policy HO3, which is also attributed 
significant weight.  
 

7.164 It is not considered that the substantial harm to the Green Belt, by reason of 
inappropriate development, adverse impacts upon openness, and conflict 
with the purposes of the Green Belt, and other harm identified in this report 
would be outweighed by other considerations.  It is therefore considered that 
no ‘very special circumstances’ have been demonstrated to outweigh the 
harm to the Green Belt and any other harm. The proposal would therefore be 
contrary to the objectives of the NPPF, Saved Policy GB1, and Policies EN1, 
EN8, HO3, of the Core Strategy and is recommended for refusal for the 
following reasons. 
 

8. Recommendation 
 

8.1 REFUSE for the following reasons: 
 

1. The development represents inappropriate development in the Green 
Belt for which no very special circumstances have been demonstrated. It 
will result in the site having an urban character, will diminish the 
openness of the Green Belt and conflict with the purposes of including 
land within it. In particular, it would not comply with the Green Belt 
purposes: to check the unrestricted sprawl of large built-up areas, to 
prevent neighbouring towns from merging into one another, and to assist 
in safeguarding the countryside from encroachment. It is therefore 
contrary to Saved Policy GB1 of the Spelthorne Borough Local Plan 2001 
and Section 13 (Protecting Green Belt Land) of the National Planning 
Policy Framework 2023. 

 
2. The proposed development, in terms of its design, scale and location, is 

considered to harm the existing rural character and appearance of the 
area and would fail to make a positive contribution to the street scene. 
The proposal is therefore contrary to Policies EN1 and EN8 of the Core 
Strategy and Policies DPD 2009, and Section 12 (Achieving Well-
Designed Places) of the National Planning Policy Framework 2023. 

 

3. The applicant has failed to demonstrate to the satisfaction of the Local 
Planning Authority that sufficient bat surveys/assessments have been 
carried out on the site to ascertain the full impact of bats, which are a 
protected species. The proposal is therefore contrary to Circular 06/2005, 
and Policy EN8 of the Core Strategy and Policies DPD 2009. 

 

4. Insufficient information has been submitted on the proposed surface 
water drainage scheme and consequently, the applicant has failed to 
demonstrate to the satisfaction of the Local Planning Authority that the 
proposed development would minimise flood risk to an acceptable level. 
The proposal is therefore contrary to Policy LO1 of the Core Strategy and 
Policies DPD 2009, and Section 14 (Meeting the Challenge of Climate 
Change, Flooding and Coastal Change) of the National Planning Policy 
Framework 2023. 

Page 65



 
 

 

5. The proposed development does not provide any affordable housing and 
the applicant has failed to demonstrate to the satisfaction of the Local 
Planning Authority that it is not viable to provide up to 50% of the 
proposed extra-care/close-care units as affordable housing on the site. 
The proposal is therefore contrary to Policies SP2 and HO3 of the Core 
Strategy and Policies DPD 2009, and Section 5 (Delivering a Sufficient 
Supply of Homes) of the National Planning Policy Framework 2023. 

 

Delegated Powers 
 
If, in the event an appeal is lodged against the Local Planning Authority’s 
decision to refuse the planning application, and details are submitted by the 
Appellant to address Reasons for Refusal 3, 4 and 5 above, the 
Development Control Manager will agree in consultation with the Committee 
Chair to modify or remove the reasons.  

 
 

Page 66



 

 

 

 

Planning Committee 

18 October 2023 

 

Planning Appeals Report – V1.0 ISSUED 

 

Appeals Started between 7 September – 4 October 2023 

 

Case Ref & Address Date 
Started 

Procedure Appeal Ref & Nature 

22/01724/FUL 

 

4 Sandhills Meadow 
Shepperton TW17 9HY 

20.09.2023 Written 
Representation 

APP/Z3635/W/23/3319801 

Demolition of the existing dwelling and erection of a replacement 
(zinc) dwelling with accommodation in the roof 

22/01725/FUL 

 

21.09.2023 Written 
Representation 

APP/Z3635/W/23/3319800 

P
age 67

A
genda Item

 5



Case Ref & Address Date 
Started 

Procedure Appeal Ref & Nature 

4 Sandhills Meadow 
Shepperton TW17 9HY 

Demolition of the existing dwelling and erection of a replacement 
(brick) dwelling with accommodation in the roof 

22/01620/FUL 

 

Land To The Rear Of No. 
46 And 46A And Adajcent 
To No. 50-58 Reedsfield 
Road Ashford TW15 2HE 

07.09.2023 Written 
Representation 

APP/Z3635/W/23/3321949 

Installation of a shipping container (retrospective) to be used as a 
dwelling and the provision of hardstanding (retrospective) as 
shown on amended drawings numbered 'Site location and Block 
Plan' received on 14/12/2022, Proposed Plan Rev A and Existing 
container Version FB received on 16/12/2022. 

23/00637/HOU 

 

48 Knightsbridge 
Crescent Staines-upon-
Thames TW18 2QR 

20.09.2023 
Fast Track 

Appeal 

APP/Z3635/D/23/3326072 

Erection of a two storey side extension (following demolition of 
existing garage and single storey side extension) 

 

 

 

 

  

P
age 68



Appeal Decisions Made between 7 September – 4 October 2023 

 

Case Ref & 
Address 

Date 
Started 

Procedure Appeal Ref & Nature Decision Decision 
Date 

Inspector’s Comments 

22/00974/FUL 

 

2 Witheygate 
Avenue 

Staines-upon-
Thames TW18 

2RA 

30.03.2023 Written 
Representation 

APP/Z3635/W/22/3312109 

Conversion and extension 
of existing building, 
including the installation of 
a new roof with west facing 
dormer, and partial 
demotion, to create 2 
Bedroom Residential 
Dwelling with associated 
parking and amenity 
space. 

Appeal 
Dismissed 

15.09.2023 The Planning Inspector 
acknowledged that the appeal site 
lies within a residential area, but the 
building itself had a commercial 
appearance with a smaller plot than 
any of the nearby plots. The 
proposed dormer was considered to 
fall short in design being over-
dominant feature within the roof. The 
Planning Inspector considered that 
the proposed layout alongside with 
the mass and scale of the dormer, 
would result in a development which 
appears cramped and contrived. 
Furthermore, the Planning Inspector 
found unsatisfactory the standard of 
living conditions for existing and 
future occupiers. Consequently, the 
appeal was dismissed. 

22/01520/FUL 

 

Land Rear Of 
31 To 33 

Vicarage Road 

21.04.2023 
Written 

Representation 

APP/Z3635/W/23/3315903 

Subdivision of plots to 
allow the construction of a 
detached bungalow with 
associated car parking, 
boundary treatment, cycle 

Appeal 
Dismissed 

15.09.2023 

The Planning Inspector raised 
concerns that the appeal proposal 
would have a narrow frontage onto 
the road with a narrow plot which 
would be enclosed by the existing 
high fencing and as such was 

P
age 69



Case Ref & 
Address 

Date 
Started 

Procedure Appeal Ref & Nature Decision Decision 
Date 

Inspector’s Comments 

Sunbury On 
Thames TW16 

7QF 

store and amenity space. 
Erection of outbuildings 
within the rear gardens of 
no 31 and 33 Vicarage 
Road (following demolition 
of existing garage and 
sheds). 

considered to appear cramped and 
contrived. This would not replicate the 
more spacious and open frontages, 
or maintain the sense of 
spaciousness, of the other properties 
on Kings Avenue and therefore the 
Planning Inspector considered that 
the appeal scheme would fail to make 
a positive contribution to the street 
scene. Furthermore, it was 
considered that the proposed 
development would result in 
unacceptable living conditions for the 
future occupants of the appeal 
proposal, with particular regard to 
privacy and outlook along with 
providing unacceptable living 
conditions for the existing occupiers. 
Consequently, the appeal was 
dismissed 

  

P
age 70



Future Hearings/Inquiries 

 

Case Ref & 
Address 

Date 
Started 

Procedure Appeal Ref & Nature Decision Decision 
Date 

Inspector’s Comments 

21/01163/FUL 
 

1 Minerva 
Close Stanwell 
Moor Staines-
upon-Thames 

01.04.2022 Hearing 
APP/Z3635/W/22/3292634 

Use of land as a travellers 
caravan site consisting of 1 
no. mobile home, 1 no. 
touring caravan, 1 no. 
utility dayroom and 
associated works 

   

21/00010/FUL 
 

Renshaw 
Industrial 
Estate Mill 
Mead Staines-
upon-Thames 

05.04.2022 Hearing 
APP/Z3635/W/21/3284250 

Demolition of exisiting 
industrial buildings and 
redevelopment to provide 
2 new buildings (5-13 
storeys) comprising 397 
build-to-rent residential 
apartments (Use Class C3) 
including affordable 
housing, ancillary 
residential areas (flexible 
gym, activity space, 
concierge and residents 
lounge), landscaping, 
children's play area and 
car and cycle parking. 

   P
age 71



Case Ref & 
Address 

Date 
Started 

Procedure Appeal Ref & Nature Decision Decision 
Date 

Inspector’s Comments 

19/00015/ENF 
 

Riverbank 1 
The Creek 
Sunbury On 
Thames 

07.06.2023 Public Inquiry 
APP/Z3635/C/23/3320593 

Appeal against serving of 
an Enforcement Notice.  
Without planning 
permission the unlawful 
development of a new 
dwelling house, garage, 
boathouse, associated 
terracing and planters, 
steps, walls, pillars and 
hardstanding. 

   

22/01615/OUT 
 

Bugle 
Nurseries 
Upper Halliford 
Road 
Shepperton 

01.08.2023 Public Inquiry 

APP/Z3635/W/23/3325635 

Outline application with 
approval sought for scale, 
access and siting, with 
details of appearance and 
landscaping reserved, for 
the demolition of existing 
buildings and structures, 
removal of waste transfer 
facility and the 
redevelopment of the site 
for up to 80 residential 
units and the provision of 
open space and a play 
area, plus associated 
works for landscaping, 

   P
age 72



Case Ref & 
Address 

Date 
Started 

Procedure Appeal Ref & Nature Decision Decision 
Date 

Inspector’s Comments 

parking areas, pedestrian, 
cycle and vehicular routes. 

 

 

 

 

P
age 73



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 
 
 

 

Major Applications 
This report is for information only. 
 
The list below comprises current major applications which may be brought before Planning Committee for determination.  These 
applications have either been submitted some time ago but are still not yet ready for consideration or are recently received 
applications that are not ready to be considered by the Planning Committee.  The background papers for all the applications are 
contained on the Council’s website (Part 1 Planning Register). 
 
All planning applications by Spelthorne Borough Council and Knowle Green Estates will be brought before the Planning Committee 
for determination, regardless of the Planning Officer’s recommendation.  Other planning applications may be determined under 
officers’ delegated powers. 
 
 
 App no  Site  Proposal  Applicant  Case 

Officer(s)  

20/00344/FUL 

Thameside House  
South Street  
Staines-upon-Thames  
TW18 4PR 

Demolition of existing office block and erection 
of 105 residential units in two buildings, with 
flexible commercial and retail space, associated 
landscaping, parking, and ancillary facilities. 
(Amended Application) 

Spelthorne 
Borough Council 

Russ Mounty 

23/00070/FUL 

Hazelwood  
Hazelwood Drive  
Sunbury-on-Thames  
TW16 6QU 

Planning application for residential 
development comprising 67 units with the 
provision of landscaping, access, parking, and 
associated works. 

Bellway and Angle 
Property 
(Sunbury) LLP 

Russ Mounty 

P
age 75

A
genda Item

 6



23/00098/FUL 

Kingston Road Car Park  
Kingston Road 
Staines  
TW18 4LQ 

Proposed mixed use development for new NHS 
Health and Wellbeing Centre, 184 residential 
flats, workspace, and refurbishment of the 
Oast House to provide community / arts / 
workspace use with potential for cafe and 
theatre, and servicing and landscaping / 
amenity provision, together with associated 
parking, with disabled parking and drop off 
space only on site, and a decked parking 
solution on the Elmsleigh Centre surface car 
park. 

Lichfields on 
behalf of 
Spelthorne 
Borough Council 

Russ Mounty / 
Drishti Patel 

23/00112/FUL Two Rivers Bar And Restaurant 43 
Church Street Staines-upon-
Thames TW18 4EN 

Erection of a 4-storey building comprising 11 
residential units, with a commercial unit on 
ground floor  (Use Class E), associated parking 
and landscaping 

Map Slough Ltd / 
c/o Zyntax 
Chartered 
Architects 

Susanna 
Angell 

23/00121/OUT 
Land East Of Vicarage Road 
Sunbury-on-Thames TW16 7LB 

A Hybrid planning application for an Integrated 
Retirement Community to consist of: 
a) Full planning application incorporating 38 
extra care and 28 close care units (Use Class 
C2) with an on-site village centre to include a 
medical facility. Means of access off Vicarage 
Road, associated infrastructure, landscape 
buffer and open space. 
b) Outline planning application for a care home 
(up to 60 beds) and up to 98 extra care units 
(Use Class C2), landscaping and open space, 
parking, infrastructure, and internal access 
roads (all matters reserved). 

 
Savills 

Paul Tomson 
/ Matthew 
Churchill 

P
age 76



23/00388/FUL 

Multi Storey Car Park  
Church Road  
Ashford  
TW15 2TY 

Demolition of Multi-Storey Car Park and 
erection of a residential block for 42 no. 
residential units, with associated car parking, 
together with a further provision of public car 
parking spaces, and a ground floor commercial 
unit (Use Class E). Landscaping/public realm 
and access arrangements. 

Lichfields on 
Behalf of 
Spelthorne 
Borough Council 

Paul Tomson / 
Susanna 
Angell 

23/00680/OUT 
Land To The East Of Desford Way 
Ashford 

Outline Planning Permission with all matters 
reserved except for access for a site to 
accommodate Travelling Showpeople (Sui 
Generis) 

Ashford 
Corporation Ltd 

Paul Tomson / 
Kelly Walker 

23/00724/FUL 
Benwell House Green Street 
Sunbury-On-Thames Surrey TW16 
6QS 

Development of the vacant area at Benwell 
House for residential purposes with associated 
car parking, landscaping, access, services and 
facilities. 

Lichfields on 
behalf of 
Spelthorne 
Borough Council 

Russ Mounty 

23/00856/FUL 
Sports Ground Short Lane 
Stanwell Staines-upon-Thames 
TW19 7BH 

Provision of an artificial grass pitch (AGP), 
floodlighting and ancillary works including 
fencing. 

Ashford Town FC Matthew 
Churchill 

23/00865/FUL 
5-7 & 9 Station Approach & 21 
Woodthorpe Road Ashford TW15 
2RP 

Demolition of existing office buildings, and 
construction of 40 new residential units 
together with Class E (Commercial, Business 
and Service), associated amenity and parking. 

Mr Clive Morris Kelly Walker / 
Matthew 
Clapham 

23/01043/FUL 
Cedar House Spelthorne Grove 
Sunbury-on-Thames TW18 4TA 

Removal of pram sheds and replacement with 
enlarged bin store to meet waste requirements 
for 36 bins 

A2 Dominion 
Group 

Matthew 
Churchill 

P
age 77



23/01096/FUL 
St Ignatius Roman Catholic 
Primary School Green Street 
Sunbury-on-Thames TW16 6QG 

Erection of a single storey infill front extension 
to existing Reception Entrance. 

Ascension 
Catholic Academy 
Trust  

Vanya Popova 

23/01221/FUL 

Windmill Court (Former 
Dimensions Data House)  
Brooklands Close  
Sunbury-On-Thames   
TW16 7DX 

Development of the Site to provide a new self-
storage facility (Use Class B8) and new light 
Industrial workspace / incubator units (Use 
Class E(g)(iii)) with associated car and cycle 
parking, landscaping and other works ancillary 
to the development. 

Sunbury PropCo 
Limited – C/O 
ROK Planning 

Kelly Walker 

 
 
If you wish to discuss any of these applications, please contact the case officer(s) in the first instance. 
 
Esmé Spinks 
Planning Development Manager 
03/10/2023 

P
age 78



PLANNING GLOSSARY OF TERMS AND ABBREVIATIONS 
 

TERM EXPLANATION 
 

ADC Advert application 
 

AMD Amend (Non Material Amendment) – minor change to an application after 
planning permission has been given 
 

AOD Above Ordinance Datum. Height, in metres, above a fixed point. Used to 
assess matters of comparative heights in long distance views and flooding 
modelling 
 

AQMA Air Quality Management Area 
 

BCN Breach of Condition Notice. Formal enforcement action to secure compliance 
with a valid condition 
 

CHA County Highways Authority. Responsible for offering advice on highways 
issues relating to planning applications as well as highways maintenance and 
improvements 
 

CIL Community Infrastructure Levy – A levy on housing development to fund 
infrastructure in the borough 
 

CLEUD/CLD Certificate of Lawful Existing Use or Development. Formal procedure to 
ascertain whether a development which does not have planning permission is 
immune from enforcement action 
 

CS&P DPD Core Strategy and Policies Development Plan Document 
 

COU Change of use planning application 
 

CPD Certificate of Lawful Proposed Use or Development. Formal procedure to 
ascertain whether a development is permitted development and does not 
require planning permission 
 

Conservation 
Area 

An area of special architectural or historic interest designated due to factors 
such as the layout of buildings, boundaries, characteristic materials, vistas 
and open spaces 
 

DAS Design and Access Statement.  This is submitted with a planning application 
and sets out the design principles that the applicant has adopted to make the 
proposal fit into its wider context 
 
 

Development 
Plan 

The combined policy documents of the Local Plan, Minerals and Waste Plans.  
The Minerals and Waste Plans are prepared by Surrey County Council who 
has responsibility for these functions 

Page 79

Agenda Item 7



 

DM Development Management – the area of planning service that processes 
planning applications, planning appeals and enforcement work 
 

DMPO Development Management Procedure Order - This Order provides for 
procedures connected with planning applications, consultations in relation to 
planning applications, the determination of planning applications and appeals 
 

DPH Dwellings per Hectare (density) 
 

EA Environment Agency. Lead government agency advising on flooding and 
pollution control 
 

EIA Environmental Impact Assessment – formal environmental assessment of 
specific categories of development proposals 
 

EHO Environmental Health Officer 
 

ES Environmental Statement prepared under the Environmental Impact 
Assessment Regulations 
 

FRA Flood Risk Assessment 
 

FUL Full planning application 
 

GPDO General Permitted Development Order. Document which sets out categories 
of permitted development (see ‘PD' below) 
 

HOU Householder planning application 
 

LBC Listed Building Consent – consent to alter a listed building 
 
 

LLFA Lead Local Flood Authority 
 

Local Plan  
 

The current development policy document  
 

LPA Local Planning Authority  
 

Material 
Considerations  
 

Matters which are relevant in the determination of planning applications  
 

MISC Miscellaneous applications (usually a consultation by adjoining boroughs) 
 

NPPF National Planning Policy Framework, 2019.  This is Policy issued by the 
Secretary of State detailing national planning policy within existing legislation  
 

OUT Outline planning application – obtaining the principle of development 
 

Page 80



PAP Prior Approval application 
 

PCN Planning Contravention Notice.  Formal notice, which requires information to 
be provided in connection with an enforcement investigation.  It does not in 
itself constitute enforcement action  
 

PD Permitted development – works which can be undertaken without the need to 
submit a planning application  
 

PDDC Permitted Development New Dwelling in commercial or mixed use 
 

PDDD Permitted Development prior approval new dwelling on detached buildings 
 

PDDN Permitted Development prior approval demolish and construct new 
dwellings 

 

PDDS Permitted Development prior approval enlarge dwelling by additional storeys 
 

PDDT Permitted Development prior approval new dwelling on terraced buildings 
 

PDH Permitted Development Householder prior approval 
 

PDNF Permitted Development prior approval new dwellings on flats 
 

PDO Permitted Development prior approval conversion of office to residential.  
 

PINS Planning Inspectorate responsible for determining planning appeals on behalf 
of the Secretary of State 
 

PIP Permission in Principle application 
 

POCA Proceeds of Crime Act.  Used by LPAs to obtain confiscation orders against 
those committing offences under the Town and County Planning Act 1990 
following successful conviction 
 

PPG National Planning Practice Guidance.  This is guidance issued by the 
Secretary of State detailing national planning practice and guidance within 
existing legislation.  It is also known as NPPG National Planning Practice 
Guidance  
 

Ramsar Site A wetland of international importance  
 

RIPA Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act. Provides limitation on covert 
surveillance relating to enforcement investigation  
 

RMA Reserved Matters application – this follows on from an outline planning 
permission and deals with some or all of the outstanding details of the outline 
application including: appearance, means of access, landscaping, layout and 
scale 

Page 81



 

RVC Removal or Variation of Condition on a planning permission 
 

SAC Special Area of Conservation – an SSSI additionally designated as a Special 
Area of Conservation under the European Community’s Habitats Directive 
1992 in order to maintain or restore priority natural habitats and wild species  
 

SCAMD Surrey County Council amended application (minor changes following 
planning permission) 
 

SCC Surrey County Council planning application 
 
 

SCI Statement of Community Involvement.  The document and policies that 
indicate how the community will be engaged in the preparation of the new 
Local Plan and in the determination of planning applications  
 

Section 106 
Agreement 

A legal agreement for the provision of facilities and/or infrastructure either 
directly by a developer or through a financial contribution, to meet the needs 
arising out of a development.  Can also prevent certain matters  
 

SLAA 
 

Strategic Land Availability Assessment  

SNCI Site of Nature Conservation Importance. A non-statutory designated area of 
county or regional wildlife value  
 

SPA Special Protection Area. An SSSI additionally designated a Special Protection 
Area under the European Community’s Directive on the Conservation of Wild 
Birds 1979. The largest influence on the Borough is the Thames Basin Heath 
SPA (often referred to as the TBH SPA)  
 

SPD Supplementary Planning Document – provides additional advice on policies in 
Local Development Framework (replaces SPG)  
 

SSSI Site of Special Scientific Interest is a formal conservation designation, usually 
due to the rare species of flora or fauna it contains 
 

SuDS Sustainable Urban Drainage Systems. Providing urban drainage systems in a 
more environmentally sensitive way by systems designed to reduce the 
quantity of run-off, slow its velocity or provide for filtering, sedimentation and 
biological degradation of the water  
 

Sustainable 
Development  
 

Sustainable development is the core principle underpinning planning. It is 
defined as “development that meets the needs of the present without 
compromising the ability of future generations to meet their own needs”  
 

T56 Telecom application 56 days to determine 
 

Page 82



TA Transport Assessment – assessment of the traffic and transportation 
implications of a development proposal  
 

TCA Trees in a conservation area – six weeks’ notice to the LPA is required for 
works to trees in a conservation area.  This gives an opportunity for the LPA 
to consider whether a tree preservation order should be made to protect the 
trees 
 

TPO Tree Preservation Order – where a tree or trees are formally protected, and 
prior consent is needed for pruning or felling  
 

TRICS Computerised database and trip rate analysis used to estimate traffic flows to 
and from a variety of land uses, to assess transportation implications of new 
development in southern England  
 

Further definitions can be found in Annex 2 of the NPPF  
 

 
 
Esmé Spinks 13/01/2021 
 
 

Page 83



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	2 Minutes
	4 Planning application - 23/00121/OUT - Land East of Vicarage Road, Sunbury-on-Thames, TW16 7LB
	Item A Appendices 23 00121 OUT
	Item A Report 23 00121 OUT

	5 Planning Appeals Report
	6 Major Planning Applications
	7 Glossary of Terms and Abbreviations

